L Y © “ —_—
Q e L Y " L 1 XK N [: Eﬁ
e “ N QO ' LLJ]:':L
AN I AR . DOUMOB
. ».\“ “\\\\“\‘ .
. \. Q. ‘.“\\\\“\
Sevates e Doumo
Sq "o W0
UL TEMEARAT
® . .. .‘. AL::- . A
. e
° @ T e . ® .‘ ® (Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
. .%-a9% ® (KRB BHBEMA T HERAT)
®e ‘. * Stock Code B8 4 %: 1917
@
Qe Qe °
® ®. S '
® '.. ‘.
‘ o o .. \ [
‘. ° .‘ ) .
¢ '. \ R O

* ..‘ o N
ee. ® .".' 2018 = = . ,:‘::\

-..,".0. ANNUAL REPORT el
.‘..“. \:‘;“ .
Q..O.‘... ::“ \‘\‘
©0 - -9Q900° N TN
N .“...:.0 t“‘.\ \;:
‘ ®* © 0 o ' .. o .. ¢ “.“‘.“‘\‘
o o o0 0 [ I 0 %Y. et e
) N R PR R
o L0808V, 000.‘.0.-0. .\“
o.. ......Q..O.. ,.‘,.\
....°.°..':0.:.'. o...'.

[ ) o .o N 0'. ¢

° ... * 00 . .‘

e ..... ’ :'o'.o‘

:.. o ©



CONTENTS
B &

DEFINITIONS

CORPORATE PROFILE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

B

AEER

sl

MBREME

ITHRHMES

BEEREREEERERE

BEREHE

BB RS

PR R B HMAR M

10

14

15

16

23

34

47

67

75

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %)



2

DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the

following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“2019 AGM”
[2019 FIRRBFAE ]

“AGM”
[REBAFERE]

“advertiser”

[EEE]

L
[Al]

“API”

[API]

«

app’
[EmiE= ]

“Articles” or “Memorandum and
Articles of Association”
(4R8I sk s Z= R 4RR

“Audit Committee”

[ERZEE]

“Blue Focus”

[EEXE]

“BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL”

[EEXRER]

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

WAFHRT - BIEXEBAMIE - B THAE
ABUTES -

the AGM to be held on 6 June 2019
1R 2019F 6 A6 AHRITMRFAFAE

annual general meeting of the Company

ARANMBRRBFAE

any persons, companies, organizations which advertise their brands,
products and/services through placing advertisements

FERRNESSERE  ERL/IRBHEMAL - AF - #iE

artificial intelligence
ALERE

application programming interface, a set of routines, protocols, and tools
for building software applications
ERERED  —EARNEEYHEAEANER  BELIA

a program designed to run on a mobile device
RUBERE FBEMRTHER

the memorandum and articles of association as amended from time to time

B R RARR (BB ERT)

the audit committee of the Board

EFeEREZRS

BlueFocus Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd. (1t RE &N IZ&E
BRI AR AT ), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on
4 November 2002 and the shares of which were listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange on 26 February 2010 and one of our substantial shareholders
EREERFEBEHEROBRLDE - —HK20024F 11 A 4 BIREHEDART M
AR HRTE] - BERODAR2010F 2 A26 BRI AYIERR S LT - UAKRMAOEES
RER 2 —

BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (E@ ¢ EREREEEEBRAT),
a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on 13 March 2009
and wholly owned by Blue Focus

EEAREREEEEBRAR - —HRN 20094 3 A 13 BIREE B EDIEMAL
THEGKELEREMN QA



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Board”
[EFE]

“Board Committees”
[EFZEg]

“BVI”
[RBERES ]

“Chairman”

[EF ]
“Chengdu Hongdao”

[Chengdu Hongdao ]

“Chitu Huanyu”

[FRRERT
“China” or “PRC”
[FE

“click-through rate”

(B

the board of Directors of the Company
RKRAREEE

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee

EREEE  FHZBReRiEEZRRE

the British Virgin Islands
RBEZHS

the chairman of the Board
EERERE

Chengdu Hongdao Limited, a company incorporated in the BVl on 18 April
2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang Zhenghong

¥& Chengdu Hongdao Limited + — 20184 4 A 18 AN B L L Ff & 5
B EBEREETEHEBHRE

Beijing Chitu Huanyu Technology Company Limited (1t RR&BEFRFEAR
‘A|]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18 July 2014
and a former non-wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob Technology and the
remaining 49% equity interests are held by Ms. Zhang Hui
ARFRIBFREEAR AR - —fHR2014F7 18 BERBEKRZMERAE - &
CERRBBMAIEEENBRR - AT 49% REBRELLHEA

the People’s Republic of China, unless otherwise stated, excludes the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative
Region and Taiwan of China herein

REARKME  REARBPIN  AXTBEFBEEBFRITHRE - BPIFRHITT

the percentage of an advertisement is clicked by internet users when
shown on online advertising platforms. In the context of interactive
advertising, click-through rate is calculated as the total number of click-
throughs divided by the total number of impressions of coupon pages
BERERESTARTRELBMERBPFHENE L - EEHESHBER T -
U KRR BIBNEGRNERFERTNANEE

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %)

3



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“click-through(s)”

[2h% ]

“Company” or “our Company”

[AE]]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[FRITEERE

“Contractual Arrangements”
[A#ZHE]

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EERSTA

“Daniu Internet”

[ RA 484 ]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“DMP”
[BIBEEIETE]

“Doumob Advertisement”

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

the action mobile device users click on the ad, in the context of click-
throughs of interactive advertising, calculated as the total number of clicks
on the coupon or red packet on our coupon pages after visitors play our
interactive games during a certain period of time
BHREAFPHEESNTR REPESHREME H—RIABANGTERE
PEEENEESERERESNAENERBETE

Doumob (E BRIH AR AF]), a company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 26 March 2018

TEBERERAR - —HMR 20184 3 A26 AREMSHEENFMEINERA
Al

The entities our Company control through the Contractual Arrangements,
namely Doumob Technology and its subsidiary, Yamei Yunhe
RAFBEBENTHIEHNER  DTBEMERENBATEEEM

certain contractual arrangements entered into on 22 August 2018 by us
HEMR2018F 8 A22 BRI METALNLH

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

ERBIM SR 14 TR AR ER TR

Tianjin Daniu Internet Technology Company Limited (K3EA4ELEEMA
fR/A7)), a company incorporated under thelaws of the PRC with limited
liability on 12 March 2015 and a former wholly-owned subsidiary of
Doumob Technology

RERNFPEHBZMBRAT - —HR 201543 A 12 BIREFREVEZFMA LA
RAF - REBEREBA2ENEA R

the director(s) of the Company
RKRRESR

data management platform
HREEBTA

Tianjin Doumob Advertisement Company Limited (K2TBEEEHERAF), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 4
December 2014 and is held by WFOE and Doumob HK as to 97% and 3%,
respectively

REQBEEERAR - —HR2014F 12 B4 BRBEFEERFMRINERA
8l ARlBEIEBEECERTREBHEFIT% K3%



DEFINITIONS

Bx

“Doumob Technology”

BB

il

g

“ESOP Holdings”

[ESOP Holdings |

“Evan Global”

[Evan Global

“Feixun Hewo”

[ FREFX ]

“Global Offering”

[ IREE]

“Gl’OUp”, “we” or “us”

(AR I3l 34

Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (EBE(Ut Z)BERMHER A 7))
(formerly known as Zhangshang Yunjing), a company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 25 July 2013 and by virtue of
the Contractual Arrangements, accounted for as our subsidiary
FHEOARBMRBROERIE - AIMELES - —HN2013F7 A25 AREH
Bl ETMKZOERA A REEGOZHIENRB R

YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI with limited liability on 9 May 2018, wholly-owned by Evan Global
YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED - —f@/X 20184 5 A 9 ARIE &R Z B &5 B3
MKz BRAF - B Evan Global 2 & #H

Evan Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of
the BVl on 13 March 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang

Evan Global Holdings Limited + —FE# 2018 4 3 A 13 HIR K B R 2 BE & %0
AMK I HGEERERBFHRR

Tianjin Feixun Hewo Internet Technology Company Limited ( KZERFA L
EEMTAMRAT), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with
limited liability on 4 December 2014 and a former wholly-owned subsidiary
of Doumob Technology

RERAMFMAGERMERRE - —FHR2014F 12 B 4 BIRBFBUAEFT ML
WAERRE - SEBEMENAIEEREANF

the public offering of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the public in
Hong Kong and the international offering (as defined respectively in the
Prospectus) of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the institutional,
professional, corporate and other investors

MEE R E 98,900,000 KRN AMBERARRBLNEREE(EEI R
R ET2) 98,900,000 A fh AR - B - ARLHEMKEERE

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and companies whose financial
results have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our
Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context
so requires, in respect of the period before our Company became the
holding company of our current subsidiaries, the business operated by
such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)
RRARREFBEWBRRANRTBEEBEBENTHEEHFARARINERRF
MEARINAR  RINXEMIE  BARRKAEERGWE QR EZER QR A
BME @ ZSMBARSEAI AR RFIERNE ) AL EH R

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %)



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“HK$” and “HK cents”

(7T IR E]

“Hongdao Investment”

“Hong Kong”
(&5 ]

‘HTMLS”

[HTML5 ]

“HKFRS”
[ BB RG]

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

“JavaScript” or “JS”
[JavaScript]sk[JS ]

“Listing Date”

[ L7 B8

“Listing Rules”

[ EfRAl

“Listing”
[ £

DOUMOB T BRH AR

/L\\

=

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong
Kong
%/E,/jﬂk*’(brptg/%m& TIJJ

Chengdu Hongdao No. 5 Chuangye Investment Center (Limited
Partnership) (FX#PAERSFAIZEIRER O (ARAE)), a limited partnership
established under the laws of the PRC on 24 November 2017 and a
shareholder of Doumob Technology

PRERSABRSRAIZRERL(BRAH) - —HRK2017F 11 A 24 BRBEHBEIERZ
AR BEREERE - REBRBMRAKE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEEFTTERR

a markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the
internet, with detailed processing models to encourage more interoperable
implementations, which can be used to develop interactive advertising
AREEBERBERERARNRLCET  AAAANRER & SBRTES
HERE IRRAELDES

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BRI ELER

any person or entity who is not considered a connected person of our

Company or an associate of any such person within the meaning under the

Listing Rules
WIHRARBIBMEALTHEMNZEALHOBEA(EER WA EMN AL
BB

a high-level, interpreted programming language

7%@ Z&ﬁ@%ﬁﬁufirum =

the date on which the Shares initially commenced their dealings on the
Stock Exchange, i.e. 14 March 2019
BRI FERMABESZH - BI2019F 3 B 14 H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

B X FT B A LR A (T EHEET)

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
847 DA Bk A2 P AR BT



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Model Code”
EESE

“Nomination Committee”

[REZES
“oCPC system”

[oCPC %#t |

“Prospectus”

(B =R

“Remuneration Committee”

B3

“Reporting Period”
[$R= 5

“RMB”
AR

“RSU Scheme”

[ 52 PR i At B 51 3

“RSU(s)"
[ 52 PR 1A 10 B

“Sam Limited”

[Sam Limited]

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

LSRRI 10 PTE Y LM BITAEEETES R SR ETH

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgRv%BY

optimized cost per click system, an advertising bidding system through
which we conduct advertising optimization automatically, intelligently and
in real-time

BRE(HERS  —EEEHERS Bt R BRMERETES
Bt

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 28 February 2019
ARARTIEREA2019F 2 A28 HOBRKRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFeVMERS

the year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F 12 A31BILEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

FEVEEERARE

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 14 August
2018
RATFIR 20184 8 A 14 BERMA A X BR HIAR (7 B AL 5H &

restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme

AR B S PR 1 AR 0 BE L &1 1% 1 89 X2 BR I A {0 BB L

Sam Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the BVI on 13
March 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Zheng Shunqi

Sam Limited * —[@7 2018 F 3 B 13 HARYR 24 & B2 2 £¥ S A B 5 Ak 32 37 i 28I
BAEFELEELEREHNRF

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %)



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“SDK(s)”

[SDK]J

“senior management”
[EHRERE]
“Share(s)”

[ A7 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[R5

“Stock Exchange”
[ 38 32 7 |

“Summer Holdings”
[Summer Holdings |
“URL(s)”

[URL]

“US$”

[%7t]

“WFOE”
PINCEER S

“Yamei Yunhe”

EHESE

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

software development kit, typically a set of software development tools that
allows the creation of applications for a certain software package, software
framework, hardware platform, computer system, video game console,
operating system, or similar development platform

PHHEILAR  —RAE—EARETHRHE  HMHIER  @EHFe STHR
g RIRBEE - BRIEFRIBORETRREREANTERETA

the senior management of the Company
KRBERERE

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.001 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
RATIEEITRAR FREEO.001 B h LAk

holder(s) of Shares
AP FEE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERSMBR AR

Summer Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 13 March 2018 and wholly owned by Ms. Chen Xiaona

Summer Holdings Limited * —/# 20184 3 A 13 BREEBE L ESAH =+
MBSz PR L T2 B R A A A

uniform resource locator, commonly known as a web address

F—EREAS - — AR ERLL

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EREREERBET

Beijing Doumob Information Technology Company Limited (It RS 8512 B4
MIAMRAE), a limited liability company established in the PRC on July 16,
2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob HK
TREHEERMERAR  —HR2018F 7 A16 BEFEKMERAR - A
CSREBNEENBAT

Beijing Yamei Yunhe Technology Company Limited (It RZEEZEFRIEHR
‘A\]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 9 July 2014
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob Technology
IRGBEEZMBERBRAA —ER2014F7 A9 ARBFRBEZEMRIHA
Al REBEMEN2ERBAF



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Zhangshang Yunjing”

wop»
[%]

Beijing Zhangshang Yunjing Technology Company Limited (it = E =
SR AR A F), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC
with limited liability on 25 July 2013 and the predecessor of Doumob
Technology

IRELFZESREARRAR - —MR2013F 7 A 25 BREFREEZFMK NG
RAF - REBERERNATS

per cent
Btk

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %3}
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

QA EF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chief Executive Officer and
the Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Chen Xiaona

Mr. Zheng Shungi

Ms. Shi Hui

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Ge
Mr. Yang Zhenghong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong
Mr. Liu Binghai
Mr. Wang Yingzhe

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Chairperson)
Mr. Yang Zhenghong
Mr. Wang Yingzhe

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Binghai (Chairperson)
Mr. Yang Bin
Mr. Wang Yingzhe

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Chairperson)

Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Shi Hui
Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT

Exe
BITES

BMELE (TTHAHAFREEFSLE)

BREEIR
EP R S A
HE=3egum

FUITES
IRt
BIERESE
BYFHITES

RIS
FmELEE
FREXLE

BEREES

BRIBYC A (/)
BIERELE
FRERLE

FMEES

BMEEE(LE)
BXR L
FRERLE

REEEE

B LA (L)
el oyES s
FRERLE

BEARME

BEZ 4+
#ORME L+ (ACIS, ACS)



CORPORATE INFORMATION
QR EH

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yang Bin
Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
25th Floor, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Gram Capital Limited

Room 1209, 12th Floor

Nan Fung Tower

88 Connaught Road Central/
173 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law

William Ji & Co.

(in Association with Tian Yuan Law Firm Hong Kong Office)
Suite 702, 7/F

Two Chinachem Central

26 Des Voeux Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre
27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

REAR
B A
BORELZ L (ACIS, ACS)

BB ED
BEUEEREMEBNERAH
HEGHAD

BE

FeEEP 11155
KEH 251

BRER

EMEXRERAE
BB THEBER88H
EEhEP 17358
mEeXE
12181209 =

EEER

BREEZLZ

AR AEADTT
BRITTEMBEAEE D &
HEPIR

fEEiER 26 5%

BNt

7i18702%

MEREEMMNER

Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre

27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman lIslands

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %3}
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QA EH

HEADQUARTERS

Floor 5, Building C11

Phase Il, Dongyi International Media Industrial Park
Gaojing, Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40/F, Sunlight Tower
No. 248, Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre

27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT

#EB

I

Em

HGEsH+
RIEREREEEXR B
Cl15RiEs12

ERTEERME
o)

EERER 2485
[y 04012

RIGBFERHEE

Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre

27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman lIslands

EBERRESHFELERAA]
BB

B

EERER 1835
AR
17171221716 %



CORPORATE INFORMATION
QR EH

PRINCIPAL BANK

China Construction Bank Dongsi Branch
Room 2296, Building No. 1

No. 17, Cangjingguan Hutong
Dongcheng District

Beijing

PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.doumob.com

STOCK CODE

1917

FEERBIT
A EIRERRERTT
RPO% 1T

A B

Bl

A EERAR 17 5%
11E 2296 =

NG

www.doumob.com

B 40 18R
1917
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE -HIGHLIGHTS

MHEREARE

For the year ended

31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

change%
BHEDH

58.2%

26.3%

24.3%
77.8%

PLRE:] 2017
2018 F 2017 &
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR¥FT) (AR®TFr)
Revenue W= 352,611 222,927
Profit for the year F W F 43,163 34,168
Profit/loss for the year AAREAA
attributable to owners of FEEFREF, BB
the Company 43,219 34,761
Adjusted net profit" EREmR 60,759 34,168
Note: B -
(1) Adjusted net profit does not include listing-related expenses. (1) EHEBL&FARELTAEBRL -
1. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the total revenue 1. HE2018F12A31BHIFE

amounted to approximately RMB352.6 million, representing an
increase of approximately 58.2% as compared with the year
ended 31 December 2017.

2. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
recorded a net profit attributable to owners of the Company

amounted to approximately RMB43.2 million.

3. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the unaudited non-
HKFRS adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the

Company amounted to approximately RMB60.8 million.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

HABAREEIB26HETL ' BREE 2017 F
12 431 HILFEHENNAI58.2% °

B

o

5
.

HE2018F 12 A31BILFE » FEFHH
RS ER AR D B A A B S AL

£2018F 12 A31BIEFE - AAAEE
ARARHE ABGGFOARE 4328
7T

FREEZ) N AARE608EETT -

 Wrzn AR



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHREE

Letter to Shareholders
Dear Shareholders of Doumob,

This is our first annual report since Doumob has been listed on the
HKEX.

We are honored to report that the revenue of the Company
amounted to RMB352.6 million in 2018, representing an increase
of 58.2% as compared with 2017; the net profit attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to RMB43.2 million, representing
an increase of 26.3% as compared with 2017; the adjusted net
profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB60.8
million, representing an increase of 77.8% as compared with 2017.

Doumob was established in 2013. We are honored to be listed on
the main board of HKEx on 14 March, 2019. In the past five years,
Doumob has been using its proprietary advertising platform and
technologies to help advertisers to maximise the effectiveness of
their advertising delivery and help media publishers to monetize
their traffic through displays of advertisements. Doumob follows the
Company’s mission, “dedicating to empower media publishers of all
sizes to unlock their values through mobile advertising technology”.
By adhering to the developmental idea of “benefiting others is
benefiting ourselves”, Doumob has been confirmedly seeking
the possibilities of technology innovation and the opportunities of
market development. We have been focusing on the improvements
on our products and technologies, optimising customer experiences
and keeping pace with the development of the mobile advertising
market.

2018 is a year of deepening development for us. The Company has
shifted our business focus to the interactive advertising and the
technology service of our proprietary advertising platform, and has
made rapid increase and growth in these two aspects, which laid a
solid foundation for better development in the future.

In 2019, Doumob will maintain data capacity and advertising
algorithm capacity as its fundamental pivot and spare no efforts in
enhancing the advertising cloud service technology and algorithm
capacity to earn customers’ trust on a continuous basis. With
our continuous efforts on exploring and expanding the business
boundary of advertising cloud service, we will do our best to
continuously acquire market share and are confident in creating
long-term values for our customers, Shareholders, staff and the
society through continuous enhancement on the competence of
organisation and products.

Last but not least, we would like to express our gratitude to
Shareholders of Doumob and all parties concerned who have given
assistance and support along with Doumob’s development.

Yang Bin
28 March, 2019

g
ERDBEEBRMENE—NFR -

EMEEESEMARIKE  2018F + A A
WHEABARBI26EE L K017TFE R
58.2% : AN NGB AEBRAR AARKEA3.2
BHEJT 2017 F1EK26.3% + KRARIEAR A
JEM ARG A AREG60.8F BT 82017
FIERET77.8%

THRITR2013F  HMRELFEFA2019F 3
H 14 E!%E@i%?&ﬁﬁﬂ& c EBEMRELERE

CERENBHESTEAESEREM F
/‘%&E&HFHK thABEANEEEmERESRE
WARTS » R AR R TAI BT R AR E R HE %ﬁ
HFO BB ESFEITEBREEE IR RE
e AE[FMERIRFC INERES - THHA
BIET - SIEHEER - O ERRIMIREA AZL
NEtEFERAER  BUMBHEEMHERE
R ETRIAT °

2018%F RE MR LERMN—F - RAIFER

BELEBRERHELER  URRARBEFEST
BRITREER  WHESEMAMIE T & RREA
MEE - BRRETNERIT T TREHER -

20196 - SHRMASRIBFUERRE NMES
BARNAZLEE TS EESEEZRIEHI
AR N A EER T ST - TEFERA
HHESZERBOEBRERUBEENTSD
o RMBEELRBAGE DMERENNFE
R BEF - BRE - BETL - Agi #8l
EEE

Bk BHTBOBRE - BH—BER - HHA
LRBTBOE (A o

RS
201943 A28 H

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %)

15



16

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND-SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEEREE

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior TXAREERTEELRSRERECHE -

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS S

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, of which four are ETeRRANEBEEHAK BENEZHITE
executive Directors, two are non-executive Director and three are E MBIERTEER="BBIIFERITEE - T
independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets forth KBV EENETER -

information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position

®E FHe B AL

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Yang Bin 40 Chairman, executive Director and chief executive
officer

538 e 4 40 7% FF - ATEERITBAER

Ms. Chen Xiaona 33 Executive Director and vice president

BRIEEIR £+ 33 7% BITEEREIEH

Mr. Zheng Shunqi 36 Executive Director and vice president

B I i o A 36 5% WITESERAER

Ms. Shi Hui 35 Executive Director, vice president, chief financial
officer and joint company secretary

MEZt 357% HITES - Bl MBEERBEARWE

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Ms. Wang Ge 37 Non-executive Director

Rt 37 5% FERITESR

Mr. Yang Zhenghong 52 Non-executive Director

BIERKE 52 5% EHITES

Independent non-executive

Directors

BAFHTES

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong 54 Independent non-executive Director

PRAR S S 4 54 5% BN IEHITES

Mr. Liu Binghai 48 Independent non-executive Director

&l 48 5% BYIFRITES

Mr. Wang Yingzhe 48 Independent non-executive Director

FRELE 48 7% BUIEHITESE

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

Date of Appointment as

Director
EZEAESAY

26 March 2018
201843 H26 H

14 August 2018
201848 A 14 H

14 August 2018
20184 8 H14H

14 August 2018

201848 A 14 H

14 August 2018
201848 A 14 H

21 August 2018
201848 A21H

20 February 2019
201942 H20H

20 February 2019
20194 2 A 20H

20 February 2019
201942 H20H



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Bin, aged 40, is an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of our Group. He is responsible
for the overall management, strategic planning and decision-making

of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, From May 2009 to September 2011,
Mr. Yang served as chief operating officer in Beijing Gaoyang
Shengsiyuan Information Technology Company Limited (1t R =5 E
BEEZEBEHMARAR). From September 2011 to December 2014,
Mr. Yang served as director and chief executive officer in Beijing
Quanmeihui Technology Company Limited (dtRZEERBEARA
Al).

Mr. Yang, the co-founder of our Group, has more than 10 years’
experience in the mobile advertising industry, he started to serve
our Group since July 2013, where he is responsible for forming
our business model and coordinating the relationships between
our advertising platform and media publishers. He served as a
supervisor of Chitu Huanyu from July 2014 to June 2018. He served
as a chief executive officer in Feixun Hewo from December 2014 to
June 2018. He has been served as an executive director in Doumob
Advertisement since December 2014. He served as the chief
executive officer and the chairman of the board in Zhangshang
Yunjing from December 2014 to October 2016. Since October 2016,
Mr. Yang has been served as the chairman, a Director and the chief
executive officer in Doumob Technology and has been in charge of
the overall management, strategic planning and decision-making of

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor’'s degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Armored Force Engineering Institute (3t5
R K TIRER) in July 2000.

HITES

BRAE 405 RAKERTEE EF®
TERITBEH - RABEARENREEE KR
% 35 B SR

IMAAREE R - R 2009F5 5 E2011F9 A7 -
BEERIE RS GEBEREBRMARARIEL
EIEMRE - R2011F9A E2014F 1278 15
EAEETIEREEXEREBERATEE RITHAE
ﬁ °

REENBEAIMAGEERBEESITERSE
BHENERH  HBE2013F7 AR ARNEER
% BEBERMOESEARBAES AR
BAS B E MRA(R - 2014 F 7 AE 2018 4F
CAEERARIETFTMNES - WN20145F 127 %
2018 6 A MIEFERAFARITERABE - 52014
F12A# FETCHESATES TR
2014F 12 AE 2016 F10 AEAE LEETHK
BHEEEGERF - H2016 F10 A » BE4E
—HETZEREER EBERITHREH  T—
EAETBERIEMEEEE  RERBIRIAREK -

BoEER2000F7 ARGt RERETIZEER
SHE MR EER TS LS -
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND-SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEEREE

Ms. Chen Xiaona, aged 33, is an executive Director and vice
president of our Group. She is responsible for overseeing our sales
and marketing, media publisher relations and assisting in overall

management of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from December 2010 to April 2011,
Ms. Chen worked in Beijing Zhirong Weituo Technology Company
Limited (dtREL4HEREHLAR Q). From May 2011 to June 2011,
Ms. Chen worked in Beijing Ronglian Yitong Information Technology
Company Limited (It = &H:S@E S RMARAF]). From July 2011
to September 2011, Ms. Chen served as a manager in the business
department of Beijing Gaoyang Shengsiyuan Information Technology
Company Limited (It R&EEEEEEXMTER2AF ). From October
2011 to July 2012, Ms. Chen worked in Beijing Ronglian Yitong
Information Technology Company Limited (1t & E: S iBE L RMA
FRA7R]). From July 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Chen served as a
supervisor in Beijing Quanmeihui Technology Company Limited (1t
REEERARLQF).

Ms. Chen began to serve for our Group since July 2013 as a
co-founder. She has been served as a manager in Doumob
Advertisement since December 2014. She served as a supervisor
in Feixun Hewo from December 2014 to June 2018. She served as
a director in Zhangshang Yunjing from December 2014 to October
2016. Since October 2016, Ms. Chen has been served as a Director
in Doumob Technology.

Ms. Chen received her diploma in business administration from
Hebei Science and Technology University (GAdbRHZAEZ) in July
2014.

Mr. Zheng Shungi, aged 36, is an executive Director and vice
president of our Group. He is responsible for overseeing our daily
business operations and assisting in overall management of our

Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from January 2011 to July 2012, Mr.
Zheng worked in Beijing Ronglian Yitong Information Technology
Company Limited (It RAH 5@ SERIMTERRQH).

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

RE@Lt 3835 RAKEHTEERER
HoOBEEEHEREH HEBRHEREUR
B AREENEBEEIE -

mAE % B A R2010F 123 201144
A BRAZTEBRIERERERREAERAR o
MR2011F5 AE20115F6 A - Rz EBAI
RS BEEREMAERAR - R2011F7AH
F2011F9R Mzt EFItRaBRERRE
BREMAR QT EBLIE - R2011F10HE
2012F 7R MEZTHEBRIERAKZBES
RiAER AT - R2012F7 AE201569 7 -
PR T IEEIt R EERT AR AGIEE -

PRAZ+B2013F 7 ARIERE S BIIF ARG R
REBKN - HE2014F 12 ARETSBES
438 R2014F 12 A E22018F 6 A E R
MAVKEEE ¢ R 2014F 12 A= 2016 F 10 A
HEETELEERES - BE2016F 10 AR - RK
T-ERCTREBEEE -

fRZ T/ 2014 F 7 RS MBI RETHE
HEIUR ©

BIEM L E 365 AAKBENTEEREL
B ARAREBRERGHARENEBEE
i

IIAREER - BR2011F1FE2012F7 8 -
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

Mr. Zheng began to serve for our Group since July 2013 as a co-
founder. He served as a chief operation officer in Zhangshang
Yunjing from August 2013 to October 2016. He has been served
as a supervisor in Doumob Advertisement since December 2014.
He served as an executive director in Feixun Hewo from December
2014 to June 2018. He has been served as an executive director
and a manager in Yamei Yunhe since August 2016. He served as a
supervisor in Shihong Internet from December 2015 to June 2018.
Since October 2016, Mr. Zheng has been served as a Director in

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Zheng has studied in electronic information engineering from
Guilin University of Electronic Technology (HEMEFRIEAZ) from
September 2001 to December 2008.

Ms. Shi Hui, aged 35, is an executive Director, vice president,
chief financial officer and one of the joint company secretaries of
our Group. She is responsible for overseeing the financial affairs,
investor relations, compliance and company secretarial matters of

our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from September 2007 to March 2014,
Ms. Shi served as a project manager in Beijing Tianyuanquan
Accounting Firm (dt R KE 2 €5 EIEAT). From April 2014 to
March 2016, Ms. Shi served as a project manager in Beijing
Runding Investment Management Company Limited (It FESKREE

EARRR).

Ms. Shi began to serve for our Group since April 2016. She served
as an assistant to the chairman in Doumob Technology from April
2016 to October 2016. Since October 2016, Ms. Shi has been

served as a Director in Doumob Technology.

Ms. Shi received her bachelor’'s degree in financial management
from Hebei University of Economics and Business ()ff It & & K
&) in June 2006. Ms. Shi was accredited as a certified public
accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in December 2009.

A B2013F 7 ARIERB S B ARG R
REERS - HHR2013F8 A £20164F 10 A
EEZELESR2ERAE  B2014F 12 ARE
FoBEESES WR2014F12H £2018
FoHEERANKRATESE - B2016F8H
B ERETDREMRITE S RERE - #HR
2015F 12 AZE 2018 F 6 A EE AR E S -
B2016F 10 AiE - Be A —HETZBREE
% o

L ER2001F9 A E2008F 12 AR EME
TREABEEETEEIR -

5

M2kt 365 RASERNTES - EAE -
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SENMBEE  REEBR GRIRARME
=H-

IMAEEER - %2007 F9 AZE2014F3 A -
R T EEIE R KB 2 ST EHATIE B A2 -
MR2014F 4 AE 2016 F3 A Bl L T EFIER
HRREEEARARIER LR -

B2016F 4 A  MaztRmALAEEMMT -
B 2016 F4 B E2016F 10 BIET T BRI
FEENE - 52016 F 10 Ak - Mz —EEMT
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND-SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEEREE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wang Ge, aged 37, is an non-executive Director of our Group.

She is responsible for supervising the management of our Group.

From August 2006 to March 2008, Ms. Wang served as an auditor in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian (E#iGEh R e TEIELAT).
From March 2008 to September 2014, she served as an attorney
in Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer (ZEEEmEEMELHT). From
October 2014 to February 2017, she served as an attorney in Davis
Polk & Wardwell LLP (EBZE#ERMEEAT). Since March 2017, Ms.
Wang has been served as the head of legal affairs department in
Blue Focus. She was appointed as a non-executive Director on 14
August 2018.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (EHRINEINEKRE) in
June 2002 and later received her master’s degree in laws from
Peking University (5 A2) in July 2006. She also received her
master’s degree in international tax law from the law school of New
York University (A4 K2 ) in September 20009.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong, aged 52, is a non-executive Director of our
Group. He is responsible for supervising the management of our
Group.

Since January 2003, Mr. Yang Zhenghong worked as the chairman
of the board of Beijing Zhong Ruan Jin Ka Information Technology
Company Limited (It R &K & REEEMARE TR A). From
February 2010 to present, Mr. Yang Zhenghong has been working
as the chairman of the board of Beijing Dongfang Hongdao Assets
Management Company Limited (It RR FLBEEERERSEER
7]). He was appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company
on 21 August 2018.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong received his bachelor’'s degree in automation
from Tsinghua University (J& Z KX £) in July 1990. He received
EMBA from China Europe International Business School ( #1 [t B T
PIE % ) in September 2009.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

FHTES

IR/ 37E AEAKERTESE AR
EBEAREENER -

2006 F8 AE2008F 3 A T L LIEFEE
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No014F 9 HIEEREE MEAEMERAT
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BERKE 525 RAKERENTES
BEEBAKENERE -

B2003F 1A BERLEEFILRPE
CREERMEREARAINESEER - K
2010F2AES  BEREEREILRESA
BEEEBRAREARAMNERSER - HR
2018F 8 A21 HEZ T AR N RINIENITES °

R1990F 7  BEREERFBEERENS
E{r B+ 2R - N2009F9H » RESTEEH
BIMERNSRIHEEELTEA o



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, aged 54, is an independent non-executive
Director. He is responsible for supervising our Board and providing

independent judgment.

From June 2004 to July 2006, Mr. Chan served as an independent
non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
(kS EEAR AR (formerly known as “Shang Hua Holding
Limited” ( FE4ERE AR A F]), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0371.HK). From March 2001 to
December 2007, Mr. Chan served as an executive director of Hi Sun
Technology (China) Limited (m=BaEHE (R RE)HBR2AA), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0818.
HK). Between 2005 and 2010, Mr. Chan served as an independent
non-executive director of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science
Incorporation (HFAILIEEY RN AR AE]), a company listed on
the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8247.HK). Mr. Chan currently serves as a joint company secretary of
Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited and a joint company secretary of
PAX Global Technology Limited (B &R E AR A A), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0327.
HK). He has many years of diversified experience in auditing,
business advisory and corporate management. He was appointed

as an independent non-executive Director on 20 February 2019.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in 1988. He was admitted as a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants in 2002 and 2005, respectively.

Mr. Liu Binghai, aged 48, is an independent non-executive
Director. He is responsible for supervising our Board and providing

independent judgment.

Since December 2010, Mr. Liu has been served as the chief
executive officer in Beijing Zhangshangwang Technologies
Company Limited (dt RE LR BR A F). Since June 2016,
Mr. Liu has been served as a director in Zhejiang Merit Interactive
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (#/ L& B B BEKZBHER D AR AR ).
He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 20
February 2019.

BYFHTES
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND-SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEEREE

Mr. Liu received his master's degree in machinery manufacturing
from Beijing University of Technology (1t R T AKZ) in 1996. He
received his EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(RIRZEPRT) in 2000.

Mr. Wang Yingzhe, aged 48, is an independent non-executive
Director. He is responsible for supervising our Board and providing
independent judgment. From June 1997 to August 2009, Mr.
Wang served as attorney and subsequently a partner in Jingtian
& Gongcheng (L R EEA QAR EHAT). In 2009, Mr. Wang
founded Fenxun Partners (Z i Z A £ % F7) and served as the
managing partner since then. Currently, Mr. Wang also serves as
an independent director in Shenyang Singi Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (BEEBRZERMHERAF), a company listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300573), Shan’xi Xifeng Liquor Co.,
Ltd. (BRAEAFEEIERM AR AE) and Xi'an Huajiang Environmental
Technologies Co., Ltd. (AL FE TRIREHERMDBBR2AF]), a company
listed on NEEQ (stock code: 833147). He was appointed as an

independent non-executive Director on 20 February 2019.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in laws from the law
school of Jilin University (F#AZA2F) in 1992 and he received
his master’s degree in laws from University of California, Berkeley in
2008.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Bin, see “— Executive Directors” for details.

Ms. Chen Xiaona, see “— Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. Zheng Shunqi, see “— Executive Directors” for details.
Ms. Shi Hui, see “— Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. Huang Kewang, aged 27, is the chief product officer of our
Group. From June 2013 to October 2016, Mr. Huang served as the
product manager in Zhangshang Yunjing. Since October 2016, he
has been served as the chairman of the supervisory committee in

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Huang received his bachelor's degree in automation from
Beijing Institute of Fashion Technology (3t RARE £ ) in July 2013.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWR DN

OVERVIEW

We operate in the mobile advertising industry. Our proprietary
advertising platform and technologies help media publishers
monetize their traffic through displays of advertisements on the
one hand, and help advertisers maximize the effectiveness of
their advertising delivery on the other. Our mission is to empower
media publishers of all sizes to unlock their value through mobile

advertising technology.

In 2018, we provided mobile advertisements in the form of non-
interactive advertising such as SDK advertising and in the form
of interactive advertising. In addition, we also generated limited

revenue from providing online sales services.

We have provided mobile advertisements in the form of non-
interactive advertising since 2015, in formats, such as banner
advertisements, interstitial advertisements, information flow
advertisements and open screen advertisements, and in the form
of interactive advertising since 2017, which makes us one of the
earliest participants in the interactive advertising market in China.
Interactive advertising is a digital advertising form currently backed
by HTML5, which allows visitors to interact and engage with rich
media advertisements, which includes advanced features such as
game, video, audio to encourage visitors to interact and engage
with. In interactive advertising, we collect data through URLs, APIs
and JavaScript Tags, subject to the advertisers’ and the media
publishers’ choices to install our APls and JavaScript Tags, we
are able to (i) monitor a full behavior cycle of a visitor, from his
or her click on the user interface, all the way to his or her actions
subsequent to the purchase, such as successful payment and
request for refund, and (ii) monitor visitors’ clicks-through rate on
user interfaces maintained by media publishers, so as to optimize

advertising plan and strategy.

We shifted our business focus strategically from non-interactive
advertising services to interactive advertising services in 2017 to
keep abreast of the development of the mobile advertising industry.
We continued this strategy in 2018. Revenue from our interactive
advertising services increased significantly from RMB76.5 million
in 2017 to RMB226.6 million in 2018, which was 64.3% of total

revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION-AND-ANALYSIS

EERENWR D

All of our services are, broadly speaking, intermediary services
because as an advertising technology company, our role is to
connect advertisers with media publishers. Our services, however,
can be divided into two categories: those derived from our
proprietary technology platform (which we refer to as “Technology
Services”), and the traditional intermediary services (which we refer

to as, for the sake of simplicity, “Intermediary Services”)

Since our establishment, we have been providing advertising
services both as Technology Services through our proprietary
advertising platform and as Intermediary Services, which are
complementary to each other. Generally, we prefer providing
Technology Services over Intermediary Services due to its higher
gross profit margin. In 2018, the contribution from our Technology
Services to our total revenue increased. Revenue from Technology
Services accounted for 48.7% of our total revenue in 2018, while
revenue from Intermediary Services accounted for 50.7% of our total

revenue in 2018.

In 2018, we launched our optimized cost per click system (“oCPC
system”), through which we automatically, intelligently and in real-
time identify the advertising space with the highest conversion
rate of a specific advertisement based on historical and real-time
performance data we collected from advertisers and our proprietary
advertising platform (i.e. number of visitors who perform specific
actions on the landing pages and number of visitors who click on
the coupon), and invite advertisers to bid for the advertising space.
We believe the bidding process maximizes the use of advertising
space and direct advertisers to spend their budgets on the
advertising space where they are most likely to achieve the goal of

their advertising campaign.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 14 March 2019. The listing marks an important milestone in
the Company’s history and is the initial progress for its efforts in
business development and innovation over the past few years. It
also represents investors’ recognition of our strategy, performance

and governance, which will be the drivers of our future growth.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

BIER—HESKRMAR  EHEERESTH
HRRmE  WBENS - RANAERBEHEA
TR o A - FAFIHRBEAI D BWAR - KA
BERMT &0 RS (A2 Bl KM RS ) &
BHP RSB (AEELR  HABZRIFNR
1) e

BRYVAR - BRM—EERBEERESETAIRME
BRI RERTRNRBHES RS - BITR
BRANRBEARFR - —RiME - BLEHPNR
% RIMEMBHENRYE  BEEMNERS -
2018 4F + Il R AU BEET R B BE
LLE 2017 FRF - BT RGO K G FI2018
FU I ABEER) 48.7% BT RIS B9 U a5 165 B AP
2018 F Uz 4BFERI 50.7% °

Re018%F HMHELBEREBLLERS
(ToCPCE#]) - &It - B - BREILRE
HMEERSEERBEEREFAaMEENEERE
R IR B (BN & BT E R IENE B R
ENHBEESNSERE)ERBNIFERS
MRSECEREN  WHEBESERESEMIR
1% o BAEE - BREBRA RS MAESEHL - A
BRESIRRECEARAIRERES D
BEMESM L -

ANAFE2019F3 A 14 B BPR B X AT ER L
Mo EMERATERPH Y —[AEZE2EE -
RADRHFRBEEBERE RBIFIES DY
—(ERBRMERR - LRAREFZREEHAR
AINVERS - RIMKEARWMRA - L EEESEE
BMBREROMES S -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND_ANALYSIS
EEESWmE DM

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 COMPARED TO

THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

The following table sets forth the comparative statements of profit

or loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the year ended

December 31, 2017.

BE2018F12A31MB L FEHEBE

201712 A31 BLEEELR

TREFIEHE2018F 12 AT AL EFEHE S
2017 F12 A1 HILFELEEMIBZEE °

2018 2017 change %
2018 & 2017 4 BEE S
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR#TFT) (AR#®FT)
Revenue 2 352,611 222,927 58.2%
Cost of sales & A (269,026) (172,978) 55.5%
Gross profit ER 83,585 49,949 67.3%
Other income and other net H g AR A sk,
gains/(losses) (E518) %8 1,067 1,640 -34.9%
Change in fair value of: LTEENARES
— financial assets at fair value — QAR ET ABZHE
through profit or loss HEE 1,613 633 154.8%
Selling and distribution HE RS HAY
expenses (8,070) (5,519) 46.2%
Administrative expenses THHAX (35,329) (12,289) 187.5%
Profit before income tax MATEBIK SR (BX)
credit/(expenses) AR R 42,866 34,414 24.6%
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiike, (BsZ) 297 (246) N/A 38 A
Profit and total FRBEMREZME
comprehensive income for W25 48 58
the year 43,163 34,168 26.3%
Profit and total BT ATEEFRERNR
comprehensive income for 2HINEAE
the year attributable to: 43,163 34,168 26.3%
Owners of the Company PAN/NGIE 2SN 43,219 34,761 24.3%
Non-controlling interests FEVERR e = (56) (593) N/A i@ A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION-AND-ANALYSIS
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REVENUE

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

iy &

TREHNHPIEZE 2018 F K 2017F 12 A31H
IFFER SRR

For the year ended December 31,

2018

2018 F

(RMB’000)

(AR¥TFr)

Interactive advertising EBES 226,621

— Technology services — — FeffT AR 171,580

— Intermediary services — RN R 55,041
Non-interactive FEHES

advertising 123,562

— Technology services — — HlTRTE —

— Intermediary services — BN IR 123,562

Online sales services B EHEERS 2,428

Total et 352,611

BE12A31BLFE

2017

2017 4
(% of total (% of total
revenue) (RMB’000) revenue)
(1528 (il z

BEEDL) (AEETT) HEASIE)

64.3% 76,545 34.3%
48.7% 2,188 1.0%
15.6% 74,357 33.4%
35.0% 138,769 62.2%
1,637 0.7%

35.0% 137,132 61.5%
0.7% 7,613 3.4%
100.0% 222,927 100.0%

For the year ended December 31, 2018, total revenue was
approximately RMB352.6 million representing an increase of
approximately 58.2% as compared with 2017. This total revenue
increase was mainly attributable to the strategic shift in our
business focus to interactive advertising services to keep abreast
of the development of the mobile advertising industry which lead to
the increased number of new customers from interactive advertising

services in 2018.

COST OF SALES

Out cost of sales was approximately RMB269 million, representing
an increase of approximately 55.5% as compared with 2017. This
was mainly attributable to the increase in size of our advertising
business, which led to the corresponding increase in traffic

acquisition costs paid to media publishers.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

B E2018F12A31IBILEFE - WRBELH
B AREESS268 & T W2017F 5 4
58.2% ' FEHNBEMHEBE BRI E R E &)
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BPEEREALYABARK29BE T 8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Our gross profit was RMB83.6 million for 2018, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 67.3%. Our gross profit margin
was 23.7% for 2018, as compared with 22.4% for 2017.

This increase was mainly attributable to (i) the commencement of
our interactive advertising services which generated a higher profit
margin than non-interactive advertising services; and (ii) an increase
in the percentage of interactive advertising revenue provided as
technology services, which generated a higher profit margin than

intermediary services.
EXPENSES
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of staff
salaries and benefits. The selling and distribution expenses were
RMB8.1 million for 2018, representing an increase of 46.2% as
compared with 2017. This was mainly attributable to the increase in

average salary of our selling and distribution employees.
Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff salaries
and benefits; (i) provision for impairment loss on contract assets;
(iii) legal and professional fee; (iv) agent cost; (v) operating lease
charges; (vi) research and development expenditure; and (vii)
auditors’ remuneration. The administrative expenses were RMB35.3
million for 2018, representing an increase of 187.5% as compared
with 2017. This was mainly attributable to the increase in listing

expense, which is non-recurring in nature.
Income Tax Credit/(expenses)

Our income tax credit/(expenses) consist of current income tax and
deferred income tax. The income tax credit were RMBO0.3 million
for 2018. This was mainly attributable to the change in deferred
income tax resulted from the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables during the Reporting Period. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, the nominal income tax rate for our major

domestic operating entities was approximately 25%.

ERNRERR

HBMIR 2018 FMEFN BARMKESI6EHET * [
LE 3B IN#167.3% ° EFE KR 20184F £23.7% °
i1 2017 F 8l 5 22.4% °

ZEMEBAR (VAR TMNEXEIFEHES
R = E B ES RS ¢ R (i) AR AR SR 4
EPEENKRER D LT ERBEEH IR
BHOFEXER -

53
HERDHHZ

BHANHEERSOHAXTIEZEBEEIHSME
Mo HERDHEAXN2018FRBARES1A
BT M2017F1EN46.2% - TE2HNIHER
DiHEE FIOFSIEM -

TR

BMNTBERALEIZRENEIH REF
(VEHNEEREBREEE: (HWEEREXE
BR(VRERAR: (WEERERMI (Vi)
MEME RViDZEME - THRAZR
2018 F A ARM35.3E Bt 0 82017 F # I
187.5% + FEMRMNIFLTE M EmFZIEM -

FrEBER  (F%)

B PASEIR S, (B BIEEN MRS B KR
FEFTISTE - 2018 IS IMIER RARKO03ES
T TE2HRHMEHNE S MEMERFIRERE
BESHNECHERNES - BIE2018F 12
HAB1HLFE  RANFEATIELLEENS
BESHELR25% °
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NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial information which is
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we set forth below our
adjusted net profit as an additional financial measure which is not
presented in accordance with HKFRS. We believe this is meaningful,
because the management has eliminated the potential impacts of
certain items which were not considered indicative of our operating
performance, and this would be useful for investors to compare our

financial results directly with those of our peer companies.

Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of certain non-cash or
non-recurring items, namely listing- related expenses. The term
“adjusted net profit” is not defined under HKFRS. The use of
adjusted net profit has material limitations as an analytical tool, as
adjusted net profit does not include all items that impact our net
profit for the year. The following table reconciles our adjusted net
profit for the periods indicated to the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRS:

FERMBHREENNE

RYERPREFEMBRELENZ2IINEGEE T
BRBEITRATE - BN T XTI B FIRL B AL
MERLIFREFT BB RELIN 2N E RS
BarE - BAEGE - WBREAER  BREERE
BERBERYE/ZESEMACERBEENET
HEMEBEYE  BEADREERHMNGHE
REEERFRARINREETHLER -

RARMAIRE TR RIFEEERENT
2 MEMHAERBAS - [ERBAMN ] —FARE
BB RELENBETRBEE - (EREHBAT
ERD T TAFEEARRSY - RESKERHELLT

TEEMAFERMFALMNNIER - TRA
ﬁﬁﬁf\ﬁﬁj‘\ﬁﬂfﬂﬁ’]%« FEAN RRBEEBYBR
SEAFER NN ZREE TN BT 28 Y
B -

For the year ended
December 31,
BZ12A831HLFE

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

(AR¥Fx) (AR¥EFT)

Profit for the year FRBEF 43,163 34,168
Add: /.

Listing-related expenses FTABERE 17,596 —

Adjusted net profit TR R 60,759 34,168

DOUMOB EERIZERAT
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In light of the foregoing limitations for other financial measures,
when assessing our operating and financial performance, adjusted
net profit cannot be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for our profit for the year, operating profit or any other operating
performance measure that is calculated in accordance with HKFRS.
In addition, because such measure may not be calculated in the
same manner by all companies, it may not be comparable to other

similar titled measures used by other companies.

FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As of December 31, 2018, our total equity was approximately
RMB240 million, as compared with approximately RMB128 million
as of December 31, 2017. The total equity representing an increase
of approximately 88.0% as compared with 2017. The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in profit from operating activities
and the provision of fund from the pre-IPO investments from our

shareholders.

As of December 31, 2018, our net current assets were approximately
RMB215 million, as compared with approximately RMB118 million
as of December 31, 2017. The net current assets representing
an increase of approximately 82.6% as compared with 2017. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the cash and

cash equivalents and contract assets.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

ER DR EMP BT ENRS - RFHERMANE
ENMBREAR - TEEBEBLABRATZIA
BB RBE B BH|RE LT EOFREF
BN ST EMEERROFTE - B /A
RARGIB ARG ARG AFELIAFE - &
A—ERRBEEM AR AN EMENUSR B NFE
EELER

B ESAR R

HZE2018F12A31H  AMMERLEN A
AR®2408 87T MEZE2017F12H31H
B RARE128AE T - B EFER2017F
K 88.0% © &I R EERNEEFENFEF
R MR B MIRRNERAAEERIRERE

HZ2018F12A31H ' MM ARBEEFE
HRARE 216 BETT - MEZE 2017512 A 31
HEIWAARKBI1SEE L - RBEEFAER
2017 FIEINKI82.6% - ZEEFEHANE SR
ReEBMEESHEENEM -

RBEERUBEER

For the year ended December 31,

HBE12A31ALEE

2018 2017 Change %
2018 2017 % FEF D

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR#¥FT) (AR®TFr)
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERS 132,912 21,375 521.8%
Restricted funds ZRHE © — — —
Banking facilities H|ITRIE — — —
Total #st 132,912 21,375 521.8%
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As of December 31, 2018, our cash at bank and on hand and
restricted funds totaled RMB132.9 million, as compared with
RMB21.4 million as of December 31, 2017. The change was mainly
attributable to the increase in cash generated from operating
activities and the provision of funds from the pre-IPO investments

from our shareholders.

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2018, the gearing ratio, which is calculated as
total debt divided by total assets, was 23.2%, as compared with
19.7% as of December 31, 2017.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

#HZE20186F12A31H » RMWIBITRFER
CURZBRHELETAARE 132988 T -
mm2017F12A31H A AEAR 2148 &
TL o ZEBETEANEETHMERSME MK
BMRENERAHSENRERTES -

EEEELR

HEERERANEEREBEFE - K20184F 12 A
S1EMEEGGBL RE23.2% @ ML2017F 12
A31HRAIA19.7% °

BEXRAX

For the year ended December 31,

BE12A31ALEE

2018 2017 Change %
2018 & 2017 & BEESH

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR#FT) (AR¥KFr)

Furniture, fixtures and office KA -EKEBER

equipment NS 178 135 31.9%
Computers e 67 23 191.3%
Motor vehicles TE — 430 -100.0%
Total F 245 588 -58.3%

Our capital expenditure includes expenditures on furniture, fixtures

BANEAHXBRERA  KERRAERE

and office equipment, computers and motor vehicles. For the year
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, total capital expenditure
amounted to approximately RMB245,000 and RMB588,000
respectively.

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

The Company did not have any other significant investment,
acquisition and disposal for the year ended 31 December 2018.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, we did not engage in the

above matters.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of December 31, 2018, no property, plant and equipment was

pledged.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2018, we did not have any unrecorded
significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation against

us.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of December 31, 2018, our employee remuneration totaled
approximately RMB17.4 million (including salary, bonus, share-
based compensation, pension scheme contribution, other social

security fund and other employee benefits).

The remuneration of our employees is determined based on their
performance, experience, competence and market comparables.
Their remuneration package includes salaries, bonus related to our
performance, allowances and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes for employees in the PRC. The Company also provides
customized training to its staff to enhance their technical and

product knowledge.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior management
is determined on the basis of each individual's responsibilities,
qualification, position, experience, performance, seniority and time
devoted to our business. They receive compensation in the form of
salaries, bonuses, RSUs, and other allowances and benefits-in-kind,
including the Company’s contribution to their pension schemes on
their behalf.

EARE -WBREE

HZE2018F 12 A31HILFE » AR RIWE(T
AEMBEREE WEEKHE - HE2018F 12
AS1BIEFE  HMiEgEsT LiisE -

BEEERR

HZE2018F12A31H  HEDHTMAME -
R R iR A e

FREBERER

HZE2018F 12 A31H » FH I M AF ] KLk
MEARABE  ERIGTERMANTARER

=
A e

BERFMBUR

HE2018F 128318 AWM EEFMAE
HNRAREITABET(BEHS - 1640 - R
ARG - BARGTEIMER - KMt eRE
& REMIEEREF) o

RANEBHMEESHER  ERRAED 1
SEMIBANTLRARTNERE - BE0HHIE
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering were estimated
approximately HK$47 million. With reference to the Prospectus,
we intend to use the net proceeds for (1) approximately 20% to
strengthen algorithm and data mining capabilities of programmatic
advertising system and to invest in other technologies in big data
and artificial intelligence; (2) approximately 20% to expand the
base of advertisers and media publishers; (3) 20% to invest in
traffic acquisition cost for the self-owned media publisher; (4)
approximately 10% to pursue strategic cooperation, investments and
acquisitions; (5) 10% to enhance the functionality and architecture
of the proprietary advertising platform; (6) 5% to develop new
products; (7) 5% to expand and train our teams; and (8) 10% for
working capital and general corporate purposes. After the Listing
Date, such net proceeds will be applied in accordance with the

proposed applications as disclosed in the Prospectus.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The shares of the Company were listed on the Listing Date.

OUTLOOK FOR 2019

Our mission is to empower media publishers of all sizes to unlock
their value through mobile advertising technology. To that end, in
2019, we intend to continue to develop our interactive advertising

services.

We are an early entrant to the interactive advertising market, which
provides us with certain advantages in terms of market share and

reputation. To solidify our market position, we intend to:

. Continue to focus on data collection and analysis

capabilities.

We intend to continue improving our data collection ability
by encouraging more advertisers and media publishers to
implant the various connection tools we provide to them,
including SDKs, APls and JavaScript tags. In particular, we
will seek to attract more advertisers and media publishers to
embed our SDKs and APIs to enable us to gain better insights

into their visitors’ browsing activities.
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Improve functionality and performance of our proprietary
advertising platform.

We intend to improve the interface of our proprietary
advertising platform to present more data analysis results
to its users. For advertisers, we aim to provide more self-
service advertising solutions through our proprietary
advertising platform. We will improve our custom filter to
enable advertisers to further filter and select target audience,
to increase the effectiveness of their advertising. The goal
of our media-side advertising platform is to provide the best
matches of advertisements through the development of our
advertising optimization capability. Furthermore, we intend to
recommend our interactive advertising to traditional brands

and advertisers.

Strengthen service quality and expand our media publisher
network.

We are exploring opportunities to enter into annual framework
agreements with medium to small media, in order to provide
our interactive advertising with steady visitor traffic. In
addition, we plan to enhance the stickiness of the media
publishers by providing customized interactive games

designs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH/E

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles of
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility
and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented sound
corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is
responsible for performing such corporate governance duties. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance
of the Company, as well as various internal policies and procedures,
including but not limited to those applicable to employees and
Directors, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory
requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate

governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than code provision A.2.1,
which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the

same individual.

Mr. Yang is our founder, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer. With extensive experience in the online advertisement
industry, Mr. Yang is responsible for the overall management,
decision-making and strategy planning of our Group and is
instrumental to our Group’s growth and business expansion since
establishment. Since Mr. Yang is the key reason for our Group’s
development and he will not undermine our Group’s interests in any
way under any circumstances, our Board considers that vesting the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person,
Mr. Yang, would not create any potential harm to the interest of our
Group and it is, on the contrary, beneficial to the management of our
Group. In addition, the operation of the senior management and our
Board, which are comprised of experienced individuals, effectively
checks and balances the power and authority of Mr. Yang, as both
the chairman and chief executive officer of our Group. Our Boar
currently comprises four executive Directors (including Mr. Yang),
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in

its composition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising
its affairs. The Board has general powers for the management and
is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day operations
and management are delegated by the Board to the management
of the Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as

determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, namely Mr. Yang
Bin (chairman and chief executive officer), Ms. Chen Xiaona,
Mr. Zheng Shungi and Ms. Shi Hui as executive Directors, Ms.
Wang Ge and Mr. Yang Zhenghong as non-executive Directors,
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai, Mr. Wang Yingzhe as
independent non-executive Directors. None of the Directors has a
relationship (including financial, family or other substantial or related
relationship) with each other. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the

Company.

The biographies of the Directors of the Company are set out on

pages 17 to 22 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors of the
Company has entered into a service contract with the Company.
Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
since the Listing Date and is subject to retirement by rotation
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
These service contracts and letters of appointments are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The
term of the service contracts and the letters of appointment may
be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of the

Company, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws.
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Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
Directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election, whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should

be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any new director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses,
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind) payable to the Directors of the Company for the

year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately RMB2.6 million.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is determined
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in

note 13 and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect

of legal proceedings against the Directors of the Company.

The procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense as required

pursuant to the Clause A.1.6 of the Code.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board, of whom Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive

Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be

independent.

Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The joint company
secretaries of the Company are Ms. Shi Hui and Ms. So Shuk Yi
Betty. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Shi Hui
and Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty have undertaken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2018. Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty is the vice president of SW Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and appointed as the joint
company secretary. Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty has the necessary
qualifications and experience as required under Rule 3.28 and 8.17
of the Listing Rules. The main contact person of Ms. So Shuk Vi
Betty in the Company is Ms. Shi Hui.

All Directors attended various trainings in the reporting period,
including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The
Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their

continuous professional development.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving
its internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision

and control, and risk management.
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Board Meeting

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on
a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be
delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the
matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or committee
meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or members of the
committees at least 3 days prior to the convening of the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant
documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the
meeting. The minutes are kept by the joint company secretaries
of the Company and the copies are circulated to all Directors for

reference and record purpose.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committees thoroughly
were recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made
including any problems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Directors have a right to review the

minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.

According to code provision A.1.1 of the Code, board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of the majority of the Directors,

either in person or through electronic means of communication.

As the Company’s shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange
on 14 March 2019, only one Board meeting was held on 28 March
2019 to consider and approve the final results for the year ended
31 December 2018 of the Group. The Company expects to convene
at least four regular board meetings in each financial year at
approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision
A.1.1 of the Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the website of the Company and that of the Stock

Exchange.
Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Yang Zhenghong and Mr. Wang
Yingzhe. Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong has been appointed as the chairman
of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise, and provide an independent view of
the effectiveness of, the financial reporting process and the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, oversee
the audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as

assigned by the Board.

As the Company’s shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange
on 14 March 2019, the Audit Committee did not hold any meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2018. A meeting of the Audit
Committee was held on 28 March, 2019 to review the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Yang Bin, Mr. Liu Binghai
and Mr. Wang Yingzhe. Mr. Yang Bin has been appointed as the

chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
Directors. In recommending candidates for appointment to the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits
of diversity on the Board in accordance with the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

As the Company’s shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange
on 14 March 2019, the Nomination Committee did not hold any
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018. A meeting
of the Nomination Committee was held on 28 March 2018 to
review composition of the Board and assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and to adopt a nomination
policy and Board Diversity Policy.

Nomination Policy

According to the Nomination Policy, in evaluating and selecting
any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee would
consider the criteria, including, among other things, character
and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties

as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).
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The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination
Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship with a ranking of the
candidates (if applicable) by order of preference based on the

needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate.
Board Diversity Policy

In designing the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
has considered Board diversity from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

We believe the Board has a well-balance of cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience where members of the Board have diversified branch of

learning and working experience in different countries and regions.
Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
has three members, comprising two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang Yingzhe, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yang Bin. Mr. Liu Binghai is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to establish and review the policy
and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management and make recommendations to the Board on employee

benefit arrangement.

As the Company’s shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange
on 14 March 2019, the Remuneration Committee did not hold
any meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018. A
meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on 28 March
2019 to review the remuneration policy and structure and to
make recommendations to the Board on determining the annual
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the senior

management and other related matters.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer” (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors, the Group’s senior management, and employees who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside

information in relation to the Group or the Company'’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the
Model Code by the senior management of the Group during the

year under review.

FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to determine the price of the listed securities of the Company
with the latest available information. This Policy also provides
guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure proper safeguards
exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory
disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company
shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the

requirements of the Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fees paid/payable to
BDO Limited for audit and audit-related (primarily related to the IPO)
are approximately RMB500,000 and RMB4,400,000, respectively.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

HERXEZNRETH

ARB R ETRAMEAA0MIM ETEHITA
ESEETEFRZNRESTA(TRETRIDIES
Ex AEESAEEENREE(RERARB
sk 8 TR Al e A B B AN B A N Rl
HZABHEE)EEARAEHFNTRTH -

RIEHARENE  2REFHRARENORE

FREADETRESTA - i - AR ARER
AEERSREEEREEFEAGENTETR
ETRIZER

REHRREESR

ARBIRIEE R EMATEEBER(HE]) -
ETHARENBEMARTHEENERF A BE
B EAREHEBAEKEEREM M AeE
HEMALERAR S ERMNMEENAL - TRE
MHEREELERRREERNART LTE
HERE - ZBERNMA/A AR B TRMEIES - R
REBEEERABHARRZREZERBERE °
AR INEE B E 0 AP R R BE - AR
BIRFHEBEEMNRTHEE - AR TW%;E@Z%
HIETIRE LR BIMRE - RE R RAR
AL TIEARRE S -

S ER A% BB

HE2018F 12 A31HIEFE BB REFR

BE(EEERERARAEE)ER EBNTES
VEREEHMEBMERARNERS RIS

AR# 500,000 7T & AR 4,400,000 7T °



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the reporting period. A statement from the auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
on pages 72 to 74 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors
of the Company have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimated that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements

on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the

Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Company also has an internal audit function which primarily
carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly
enforces procedures on inside information according to the relevant
procedures stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside

Information.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are
entrusted to individual department which is accountable for its
own conduct and performance and is required to operate its own
department’s business within the scope of the delegated authority
and to implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies
set by the Company from time to time. Each department is also
required to keep the Board informed of material developments of
the department’s business and implementation of the policies and
strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to identify,

evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained
and operated by the management in compliance with the agreed
procedures and standards. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. The review
was conducted through discussions with the management of the
Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment
performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules

compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company, was adopted by the Board on
28 March 2019, is set out as follows:

Payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to
time. The declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board. The Board shall also take into
account the following factors when considering whether to propose

dividends and determining the dividend amount:
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1. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

2. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the members of the Group;

3. the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure

requirements and future expansion plans;
4. the Group’s liquidity position;

5. contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the Company’s

subsidiaries to the Company;
6. taxation considerations;

7. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group; and

8. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles was conditionally adopted by the Board on 24 February
2019 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy of the
Articles is available on the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, there was no significant change in constitutional documents

of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant
to the Articles of the Company, general meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
of the Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
meeting should be held within two months after the deposit of such

requisition.
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To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

general meeting.

Under Article 64 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company may at all times have the
right, by a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general

meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are published on the

Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may

send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: Floor 5, Building C11, Phase Il, Dongyi International Media
Industrial Park, Gaojing, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC
Attention: Office of the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 March
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Group operates in the
mobile advertising industry. Its proprietary advertising platform and
technologies help media publishers monetize their traffic through
displays of advertisements on the one hand, and help advertisers

maximize the effectiveness of their advertising delivery on the other.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by
principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year could be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report”
in this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this

directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out on pages 75 to 168 of this annual

report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 3 June 2019 to Thursday, 6 June 2019, both days inclusive
and during which period no share transfer will be effected, for the
purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2019 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2019 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not
later than 4:30 pm on Friday, 31 May 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 135 of this annual

report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmental
friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper according
to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimize
unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2018 to be published in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements on page 144 of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out on
page 78 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s distributable reserves
were approximately RMB379,000.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2018, the Company did not have any bank

borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Since the Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on 14
March 2019, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles,
or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering were estimated
approximately HK$47 million. With reference to the Prospectus,
we intend to use the net proceeds for (1) approximately 20% to
strengthen algorithm and data mining capabilities of programmatic
advertising system and to invest in other technologies in big
data and artificial intelligence; (2) approximately 20% to expand
the base of advertisers and media publishers; (3) approximately
20% to invest in traffic acquisition cost for the self-owned media
publisher; (4) approximately 10% to pursue strategic cooperation,
investments and acquisitions; (5) 10% to enhance the functionality
and architecture of the proprietary advertising platform; (6) 5% to
develop new products; (7) 5% to expand and train our teams; and
(8) 10% for working capital and general corporate purposes. After
the Listing Date, such net proceeds will be applied in accordance
with the proposed applications as disclosed in the Prospectus.
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of the following nine Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Chen Xiaona

Mr. Zheng Shungi

Ms. Shi Hui
Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Ge

Mr. Yang Zhenghong
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong

Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
17 to 22 in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company, under which they
agreed to act as executive Directors or non-executive Directors for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in
writing served by either of the Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either of
the Director or the Company. Under the respective appointment
letters, each of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled
to a fixed Director’s fee.
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The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of

retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors have entered a service contract with members
of the Group that cannot be terminated by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31

December 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement and
contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or any entity connected with such a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2018.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

EXZIAETARNTESREIRBENKE

EFEHERREEKE AR LAEETEN—
FREIEMBAZ N IEE CEERERSN) # IR
BH o

ERRREN

BRAFmREEVIBmERMT2[EREMET
S —EHEREEI - REZE2018F 12 31 H It
FENFR - AN T sk H (A 88 A w8 B
MRARR K EEMHB ARG LEREL « MARE
Z£2018F12A3MBIEFEXFIE - XA AITS
mEIIVBBEHERBRRSEEMAMB AT MAR
RISk A ERIME A FIRHREHEREL

EEREARS  ZHFHEHNER

BRAFREEVIBRERMT2IERBMET
S —HWBEEN  RAFERLEZE20185F
12 A31 BIEFEAERERE - ANA B S H A
MEARNWIHFEMRBRAAEREEEEEER
BT ZEENEE TR E R EEENE
EWEARS - THADMETAOR -

EEREREEESMH

EXg2E MR R RHNEZRLERAKE
BEEE - BRI ATRREAT BTSSR ER
EEAEBEERSREREHM -

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %)

51



52

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHE

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 132 to 134 of this

annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived

any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or
are payable, for the year ended 31 December 2018, by our Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a

director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at any time

during the year ended 31 December 2018.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, other than the RSU
Scheme as set out in the section under “RSU Scheme”, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling
Shareholders or their respective connected persons.

RSU SCHEME

In recognition of the contributions of our management team
and employees and to incentivize them to further promote our
development after Listing, on 9 August 2018, our founders, namely
Mr. Yang, Ms. Chen Xiaona and Mr. Zheng Shungi, who are also
our executive Directors, through their respective offshore holding
companies, transferred 1,789,458, 298,236 and 149,129 Shares to
ESOP Holdings, for the purpose of establishing the RSU Scheme.
On 14 August 2018, we adopted the RSU Scheme, pursuant to
which a total of 2,236,823 Shares (representing approximately 9.1%
of the total issued share capital of our Company immediately upon
the completion of the Capitalization Issue and the Global Offering)
were reserved for the vesting of RSUs granted under the RSU
Scheme. As of the date of this annual report, RSUs representing
133,887,797 underlying Shares had been granted to 16 employees
pursuant to the RSU Scheme and none of the RSUs under the RSU
Scheme had been vested.

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors, senior
management and employees for their contribution to our Group, to
attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced personnel to
strive for the future development and expansion of our Group by
providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our
Company.

A summary of the terms of the RSU Scheme has been set out in the
section headed “D. Share Incentive Scheme” in Appendix V of the
Prospectus.
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Details of the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme as at the date

of this annual report are set out below:

Position held with

Name of the Grantees our Group

ARAEER R K BB

Director of our Company
AARES

Chen Xiaona (FREEHR)
ek gz 47

executive Director, vice president
WITESE - BIER

Zheng Shunqgi (ZBJiE#E)
0 )18 fitt

executive Director, vice president

WITES - Bl

Shi Hui (B1Z) executive Director, vice president,
chief financial officer and joint
company secretary

BITEF - BIAE  MBRERBFEAR
WE

RAF & B R BRI M EMFEIRENT
R B FIBTESIMT

Number of
underlying
Shares
represented
by RSUs
ZIREIRDEMN
FRAG B M B IR 4
HE

40,189,334

28,030,735

16,214,269

Date of Grant

REAH

August 14, 2018
20188 A 14 H

August 14, 2018
20188 A 14 H

August 14, 2018

201848 H14H

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital™

ERAAE#HTR

AHBNES LD

1.75%

1.22%

0.70%

Senior management member of our Company (excluding those are also Directors of our Company)

AATEREEBMAA(TEETBEATES)

Huang Kewang (=5 08L) chief product officer

F okt EmiReEs
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Number of underlying Shares

Position held with our Group represented by RSUs

FZREIRDEN
RESBEHBM RO HE
12 general and administrative
employees 33,239,191

12%—REITHBAE
Note:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 2,300,000,000 Shares
in issue as of the date of this annual report.

The grantees of the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme as
referred to in the table above are not required to pay for the grant of
any RSU under the RSU Scheme.

For the RSUs granted on August 14, 2018 to the named individual
grantees of the RSU set out in the table above, they shall (unless
our Company shall otherwise determine and so notify the RSU
Participant in writing and subject to the below conditions) vest as

follows:

(i as to 20% of the RSUs on the expiry date of the six-month
period from the Listing Date;

(i)  asto 10% of the RSUs on March 10, 2020;

(iii) as to 30% of the RSUs on March 10, 2021;

(iv) asto 20% of the RSUs on March 10, 2022; and

(v) asto 20% of the RSUs on March 10, 2023.

The above RSU Scheme is not subject to the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules as the RSU Scheme does not involve the
grant of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares.
Since the Listing Date, the Company did not have any share option

schemes.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the RSUs so granted

had been vested.

Approximate
percentage of the
Company’s issued

Date of Grant share capital®”

HEARAT B BITRAM
B AH BB
August 14, 2018 1.45%

201848 H 14 H
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of the date of this annual report, the interests or short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,

were as follows:

Name of Director Nature of Interest

ESERTHRARNESNES

RAFHBEH - ARREZERITRARN ARG
K afEE B CE & R 5 RIS R G 5 XV AR ) ik
7~ BB RESTHES (o) REFEZ LE
fGPIZE XV EFEE 7 K 5B 8 73 BR A MG AR B REERZ
Fr(BERIRRE 7 R B IROIA R - REFX
BREANREEIOAR) + K (b)RIFFFRME
kD126 352 IRARC A X R PIFr g MV B RE e+ =X
(C) RIEIRAE ST RIZA F & AR R 7) Ko Bk 22 P o) 4 2
FRBWT

Approximate

percentage of the

Number of ordinary Company’s issued
shares interested'” share capital®

EERREBRITREN

EEpE ERME BEEREENETERHA BHESL®
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in controlled corporation 737,771,914 32.08%
Bim e @ REEEE R
Beneficial owner 210,219,991 9.14%
BERBEAA
Ms. Chen Xiaona” Interest in a controlled corporation 151,797,422 6.60%
e+ @ A E R
Beneficiary of a trust 40,189,334 1.75%
EFEXEA
Mr. Zheng Shungi® Interest in a controlled corporation 75,894,858 3.30%
BR B o LB
Beneficiary of a trust 28,030,735 1.22%
ErEEEA
Ms. Shi Hui® Beneficiary of a trust 16,214,269 0.70%
ML+ © EHEARA
Mr. Yang Zhenghong"” Interest in a controlled corporation and 207,618,771 9.03%

interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company

LB R KRR R EERE BN BE
BT R T ez

WERsEE"
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All interest stated are long positions

The calculation is based on the total number of 2,300,000,000 Shares
in issue as of the date of this annual report.

The Shares are registered under the name of Evan Global, the issued
share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yang. Accordingly,
Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Evan
Global for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. As of 31 December 2018,
2,236,823 Shares are registered under the name of ESOP Holdings,
the issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Evan Global.
Evan Global is wholly-owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ESOP Holdings for
the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

The Shares are registered under the name of Summer Holdings, the
issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Ms. Chen
Xiaona. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Xiaona is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Summer Holdings for the purpose of Part XV of the
SFO. Ms. Chen Xiaona is interested in 427,630 RSUs granted to her
under the RSU Scheme subject to vesting.

The Shares are registered under the name of Sam Limited, the issued
share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Zheng Shungi.
Accordingly, Mr. Zheng Shungqi is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Sam Limited for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. Mr.
Zheng Shungi is interested in 298,258 RSUs granted to her under the
RSU Scheme subject to vesting.

Ms. Shi Hui is interested in 172,526 RSUs granted to her under the
RSU Scheme subject to vesting.

The Shares are registered under the name of Chengdu Hongdao,
the issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yang
Zhenghong. Mr. Yang Zhenghong is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao for the purpose of Part XV of the
SFO. In addition, pursuant to an agreement dated 2 May 2018 between
Mr. Yang Zhenghong and Hongdao Investment, Mr. Yang Zhenghong
made entrustment arrangements with Hongdao Investment regarding
the distribution of the profits generated from the 9.88% of the equity
interest Chengdu Hongdao holds in our Company. Hongdao Investment
is a limited liability partnership organized and existing under the laws
of the PRC. The general partner of Hongdao Investment is Beijing
Dongfang Hongdao Assets Management Company Limited (1t /534
EEEERAMREIAA]), which is owned directly as to 31.25% by Mr.
Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, Mr. Yang Zhenghong is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao.

(3)

(4)

(5)

PRI RIFR ©

AP AF IR HHIE 1T ) 48 202,300,000,000
FHE -

f& ) LA Evan Global 2% 50 + MGk A A Evan
Global 100% EETRA - FEItL - BEH K BE K
BIZEXVEBME » 5% £ R /N Evan Global %
EOFMBRGTHEAER - R2018F 12318 -
2,236,823 % % {5 LAESOP Holdings % % & id -
ESOP Holdings 8% 52 #1784 Evan Global
%A °Evan Global 5L EHE - F L
HEHFLBERAEXVBmE - HEEERAR
ESOP Holdings BRI E RO PHE#ER -

%15 LA Summer Holdings &% &0 » MREEH 2+
7 Summer Holdings 100% 2 31T » Ftt -
BRELFRAEGROIEXVEME - BEFLZTHES
# Summer Holdings #74 #) FT A B (9 - %A #a o
ek M2 7 22 = P AR 3% 2 PR I AR 1 B8 iz 1 1 1) EL % K #)
427,630 ZRHIBRM B P AR  EFSH
=

f& 5 A Sam Limited B EE & » M EPIERL Sc £ HEH
Sam Limited 100% B ETARA « EHt - BEH R
HEKRAIE XV IS - EDIEEL 5 4 8 B Sam
Limited 5 BT A RMD R EA % o BIERL L £
AR I8 BRI A& 19 B 7 51 &I 1) E 1% ) 9 298,258 15
ERHIRMDE AR CEHRE -

M2zt REZREIRG ECFEREREN
172,526 PR BHIRM BT HE#E - EEFE
B

f&{p A Chengdu Hongdao##E &0 MIBIELLL
%% Chengdu Hongdao 100% B E7THRA o 5
BHERAEKRPEXVImE - HEREERERR
Chengdu Hongdao #7588 FTE in R # A g o
UESh - IR IE RS A ELBER AT YHA S
20184 5 A2 B @ 1BIE R L EFEE Chengdu
Hongdao 7 78 A B BT # 9.88% % 4 £ A 1033 1) e
IO RELBIRE LBt RHE - SABIRERES
BUEAR L ARIFERBRAEBLE - b RRHLE
BEEBEREFTARARMLERENLTBERA -
BEREEERFALRRFLBEEEERERE
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Chengdu Hongdao FAH BRGNS B R A #
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS

So far as our Directors are aware, as of the date of this annual
report, the following persons have interests or a short positions in
Shares or underlying Shares of our Company which will be required
to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or,

directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal

FTERRBOES

10% sk A ERyfE S

value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all

circumstances at general meetings of our Company:

Name

s

Evan Global

ESOP Holdings"?

Mr. Yang Bin®

Bt 4 @

BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL
EERRER

Blue Focus®

EExE

Chengdu Hongdao

Mr. Yang Zhenghong

BERSE

Hongdao Investment
shigiE @

Beijing Dongfang Hongdao
Assets Management
Company Limited”

IRRFAEBEEEEEREML
A

Summer Holdings

Ms. Chen Xiaona®

PREEB 2+
DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

Number of ordinary

Nature of Interest shares interested”

EaME EEEZNETEREA "
Beneficial owner 737,771,914
BEmEAA
Beneficial owner 210,219,991
BEmEAA
Interest in a controlled corporation 947,991,905
R EE R
Beneficial owner 328,629,450
BEREAA
Interest in a controlled corporation 328,629,450
R EE R
Beneficial owner 207,618,771
BERBEAA
Interest in a controlled corporation; 207,618,771
interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company
RELE R  BARTERE BN BE
CORFOpE: £
interest of a party to an agreement 207,618,771
regarding interest in the Company
HARNBEEB RO BRNR A ER
interest of a party to an agreement 207,618,771
regarding interest in the Company
HARNFRRBANOBRNR O R
Beneficial owner 151,797,422
EnEAA
Interest in a controlled corporation 151,797,422

S EE R

HREEMA RAFREHY  TIHALREAR
AR RBERO P EAREEH MBEES
XV EBE 2 2 370 B R CR T i BR O s SR
B AERIMEHEWNBENAEETABERLT
EARRBNRRAE ERFHEMERBRAEE

Approximate
percentage of the
Company’s issued
share capital‘”
DT BT
BAEAT DO
32.08%

9.14%

41.22%

14.29%

14.29%

9.03%

9.03%

9.03%

9.03%

6.60%

6.60%
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All interests stated are long positions.

The entire issued share capital of Evan Global is directly owned by
Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in such
number of Shares held by Evan Global. The entire issued share capital
of ESOP Holdings is directly owned by Evan Global which in turn is
directly owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by ESOP Holdings.

The entire issued share capital of BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL is
directly owned by Blue Focus. Accordingly, Blue Focus is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by BLUEFOCUS
INTERNATIONAL.

The entire issued share capital of Chengdu Hongdao is directly owned
by Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, Mr. Yang Zhenghong is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao.
In addition, pursuant to an agreement dated 2 May 2018 between
Mr. Yang Zhenghong and Hongdao Investment, Mr. Yang Zhenghong
made entrustment arrangements with Hongdao Investment regarding
the distribution of the profits generated from the 9.88% of the equity
interest that Chengdu Hongdao holds in our Company. Accordingly,
Hongdao Investment is deemed to be interested in such number of
Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao. Furthermore, Hongdao Investment
is a limited liability partnership organized and existing under the laws
of the PRC. The general partner of Hongdao Investment is Beijing
Dongfang Hongdao Assets Management Company Limited (dt7RE 7
ShNEEEEREBAREERA),
Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, each of Beijing Dongfang Hongdao

which is owned directly as to 31.25% by

Assets Management Company Limited and Mr. Yang Zhenghong is
deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu
Hongdao.

The entire issued share capital of Summer Holdings is directly owned
by Ms. Chen Xiaona. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Xiaona is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by Summer Holdings.

ANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
ENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company,

its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any

arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of

the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PRI RIFR ©

5% £ EE A Evan Global 2 2B 31T AN -
It + #5 %6 £ % 48 A R Evan GlobaliB B WM A&
BRMHE B REHE - Evan Global B HEH
ESOP Holdings 2 &/ B BTl A » ik £ HE
A Evan Global » Bt - 15 % £ 318 A ESOP
Holdings # B 8B B BB h E A -

EEARERREECARERBEZMDBITRA -
At EEXEREANECKERRFEMNEE
B BB AR -

Chengdu Hongdao W2 BT AMIBIER L
EEBEEA - Flt - BIEREEBRER Chengdu
Hongdao FT#s B iR 8B G %  thoh - 1R
BB EREARLEREFIIMARA20184F5 A
2B MG - 15 ER S ERE Chengdu Hongdao
FAZR X R BT #59.88% AR 1 8 A 1) )5 ) i 17 90 Fid B2
SAEBREFVERRTH - Bt AERERER
7 Chengdu HongdaoHAMBBEIRNEE R #AE
Wz o WHh - SAERERBEREERK L ARTE
REBABLE - RRFLBEEEBREREMR
NAIRLBRENLBEBA BERLEAERER
BARRFLEEEERARETARFS.25%K
o B ERRFLABEEERERETAAR
BERELEEBEHRE AN Chengdu Hongdao#Fh
WEBRNHEBE P HEEE -

e B2 4 £z 4 H # % B Summer Holdings 2 #f &
BATHRAS o B L - PR B 4 22 £ 3748 B 5 Summer
Holdings #5868 B 5 & B R A = -

BERONEEIEZH
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BEARRASEMEMEABEROKERES
(BihEEE) MR

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %3}

59



60

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHE

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customers accounted
for 6.0% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest

customers accounted for 23.1% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest suppliers accounted
for 5.9% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest

suppliers accounted for 22.6% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of

the Company’s securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 105 employees, 38 of
which were responsible for product development, 14 were for
sales and marketing, 18 were for operations, 9 for media publisher
development and 26 were for administrative. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such
as position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and

liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits,
and is determined with reference to their experience, qualifications
and general market conditions. The emolument policy for the
employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their
merit, qualification and competence. We provide regular training
to our employees in order to improve their skills and knowledge.
The training courses range from further educational studies to skill
training to professional development courses for management

personnel.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the

required contributions under the scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

Background

On December 11, 2001, the State Council promulgated
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”), which
were amended on September 10, 2008 and February 6, 2016.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not
allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company
providing value-added telecommunications services, including
value-added telecommunication services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-
added telecommunications businesses and a proven track record
of business operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provided clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to
carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to enable the Company to exercise
and maintain control over operations of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and to consolidate these companies’ financial results into
the Company’s results under HKFRS as if they are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Despite the lack of clear guidance
or interpretation on the Qualification Requirements, we have taken
and plan to continue to take specific steps to comply with the
Qualification Requirements. After the Listing, the Company kept

implementing its expansion plan in target overseas markets.
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Up to the date of this annual report, there is no further update in

relation to the Qualification Requirement.

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year

ended December 31, 2018 are as follows:

1. The voting rights proxy agreement dated August 22, 2018,
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed WFOE or its designated person, as
his attorney-in-fact to exercise such shareholder’s rights
in Doumob Technology (the “Shareholders’ Rights Proxy

Agreement”).

2. The exclusive option agreement dated August 22, 2018,
pursuant to which Registered Shareholders jointly and
severally granted irrevocably to WFOE the rights to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity
interests and/or assets in Doumob Technology to WFOE and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any
time and from time to time, at a minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and regulations (the “Exclusive

Option Agreement”).

3. The equity pledge agreement dated August 22, 2018,
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed
to pledge all of their respective equity interests in Doumob
Technology to WFOE as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements (the

“Equity Pledge Agreement”).

4. the exclusive management and consultation agreement dated
August 22, 2018, pursuant to which Doumob Technology
agreed to engage WFOE as its exclusive provider of provider
of technical support, consultation and other services and
Doumob Technology agreed to pay service fees to WFOE (the

“Exclusive Management Consultation Agreement”).

No service fee was paid by Doumob Technology to WFOE pursuant
to the Exclusive Management and Consultation Agreement for the
year ended December 31, 2018.
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The revenue and net loss of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB13.5 million and RMB3.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2018, respectively. The total assets and total liabilities of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB173.7 million and

RMB19.1 million as at December 31, 2018, respectively.
Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please
see the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our

Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details.
Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended December 31, 2018, there is no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances

under which they were adopted.
Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to be operated without the Contractual Arrangements. However,
for the year ended December 31, 2018, none of the Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been

removed.
Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section “Connected

Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group has not entered into any connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed

pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Material Related
Party Transactions” stated in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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ANNUAL REVIEW BY THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDITOR

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(a) the transactions carried out during the Reporting Period had
been entered into accordance with the relevant provisions of

the Contractual Arrangements;

(b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or

transferred to the Group;

(c) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated

Affiliated Entities during the Reporting Period; and

(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable in the

interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Auditors has been reviewed and advised the Board in writing
(with a copy provided to the Stock Exchange) that the transactions
carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements during the
Reporting Period has nothing come to their attention that causes
them to believe (i) the transactions have not been approved by the
Board; (ii) the transactions had not been entered in accordance
with the relevant Contractual Arrangements, and (iii) that dividends
or other distributions had been made by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities to the holders of the equity interests which were not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements contained herein.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all

disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float as

required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s

liability insurance is currently in force.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code

as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during the
Period.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate

governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 34

to 46 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on 14 March
2019, and there has been no change in auditors since the Listing
Date. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 have been audited by BDO Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS EEREREGREBER

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company is in HZE2018F12A31BILFE AR AT EST
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a HARRFBEERZENRMER AR -
significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board REESS

Yang Bin &3

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer TEHITEAR,

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019 A 2019F 3 A28 H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

I BDO Tel : +852 2218 8288

55 ¢ +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239

25™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

FEATHEER115E
JkZ2H>25%

www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF DOUMOB

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Doumob
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 75 to 168, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (*“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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RR -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in Note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5 and disclosure
of revenue and segment information in Note 6 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Revenue represents income from the provision of online advertising
services and online sales services sourced from Mainland China.
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring the control of promised goods or services
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for that goods or

services.

The Group recognised revenue of approximately RMB352,611,000
from the provision of online advertising services and online sales

services during the year ended 31 December 2018.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the recognition

of revenue by management to meet specific targets or expectations.
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OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to assess the recognition of revenue

included the following:

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal

controls which govern revenue recognition;

Inspecting agreements with advertisers and media publishers,
on a sample basis, to understand the terms of advertising and
sales service and assess whether management recognised
the related revenue in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, with reference to the requirements of the

prevailing accounting standards;

Comparing sales records for a sample of sales transactions
recorded during the year with relevant underlying
documentation, which included sales invoices and monthly
customer statements with evidence of the customers’ receipt
of the service and the date of receipt of the service confirmed

by the customers;

Comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue transactions
recorded before and after the financial year end date with the
underlying agreements with advertisers and media publishers
and monthly customer statements to determine whether the
related revenue had been recognised in the appropriate

financial period;

Scrutinising all journals affecting revenue raised during the
reporting period and comparing details of a sample of these
journal, which met certain risk-based criteria, with relevant

underlying documentation.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON CONTRACT
ASSETS

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in Note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5 and disclosure of

contract assets in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net contract assets
amounting to approximately RMB121,376,000, after making loss
allowance of approximately RMB7,254,000. It represented 38%
of the total assets of the Group and is considered quantitatively

significant to the Group.

The Group’s loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL") based on management’s
estimated loss rates for each category of contract assets. The
estimated loss rates take into account the credit history including
default or delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent
settlements and ageing analysis of individual customers. The
directors of the Company evaluated the Group’s ability to issue
invoice and recoverability of the balances based on the invoice
issuance forecast prepared by the management, which take into
account of the advice from local tax authority regarding the invoice

issuance status of the Group.

We have identified impairment assessment on contract assets as
a key audit matter due to considerable amount of judgement and
estimates being required in conducting impairment assessment as

mentioned in the forgoing paragraph.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment

on contract assets the following:

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and the

calculation of the ECLs;

o Scrutinising the source documents throughout the year to
understand the invoice issuance and settlement patterns by

major customers;

o Testing the ageing analysis of the contract assets, on a

sample basis, to the source documents;
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o Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of contract
assets with reference to the credit history including default
or delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent

settlements and ageing analysis of individual customers;

o Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward-

looking information; and

. Assessing the reasonableness of the invoice issuance
forecast prepared by the management with reference to the
subsequent issuance of invoice and advice regarding the

invoice issuance status of the Group.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.
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o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Wan Che Bun

Practising Certificate no. P05804

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS-OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEeEaRkRAtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE 20184 12 A 31 HILFE

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AREFT AREFIT
Revenue Wz 6 352,611 222,927
Cost of sales SHERAR (269,026) (172,978)
Gross profit EF 83,585 49,949
Other income and other net gains/ Hanl A R Ekes
(losses) (E518) 558 7 1,067 1,640
Change in fair value of: AR EER AR EZE
— financial assets at fair value — BRARERF ABRD
through profit or loss WA E 17 1,613 633
Selling and distribution expenses HE R D HEAT (8,070) (5,519)
Administrative expenses TR X2 (35,329) (12,289)
Profit before income tax expense B 715 %t B8 2 AT 3 Fl 9 42,866 34,414
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfiie, (Bx) 10 297 (246)
Profit and total comprehensive FERBENREEKZEE
income for the year 43,163 34,168
Profit and total comprehensive RTFATEAEFRERR
income for the year attributable ZHENZEE
to:
Owners of the Company ARBHEE A 43,219 34,761
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M = (56) (593)
43,163 34,168
Earnings per share for the profit AARER AEGRRE
attributable to the owners of the FREF :
Company:
Basic ES PN RMBO0.021 RMB0.017
12(a) AK¥0.021 T AR¥0.017 T
Diluted W RMBO.021 RMB0.017
12(b) AR¥0.021 T AR®0.017 T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB AR R &

As at 31 December 2018 20184 12 A 31 H

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt AR TFTT ABREFIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - R KRR E 14 500 629
Intangible assets mEE 15 24,106 9,050
Deferred tax assets EEBIBEE 18 370 229
24,976 9,908
Current assets nBEE
Inventories EE 19 — 1,929
Trade receivables B 5K FIE 20 14,706 6,767
Contract assets BREE 21 121,376 68,999
Deposits, prepayments and other e BT RIE R E MR
receivables FIE 22 17,441 12,349
Financial assets at fair value through &2 4 Ext AIBEHI B
profit or loss BE 17 — 36,058
Amounts due from shareholders JE S B 3R 5RTE 23 188 —
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUL FEPERR #E 25 5K IE
interests 23 980 1,620
Cash and cash equivalents HeMBEeZEEY 24 132,912 21,375
287,603 149,097
Current liabilities nEBAE
Trade payables B S 5IE 25 44,459 15,323
Contract liabilities EHEE 6 4,498 3,620
Accruals and other payables fEET & A & H A FE S F0R 26 22,763 9,913
Income tax payable I ETEE 865 2,497
72,585 81,363
Net current assets REBEEFE 215,018 117,744
Net assets EEFE 239,994 127,652
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS-OF FINANCIAL-POSITION
B BBk &

As at 31 December 2018 720184 12 A 31 H

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT AREFor
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves EXRRHE
Capital FEWIN 27 195 —
Reserves G 238,563 124,948
Equity attributable to owners of ARREE AEILES
the Company 238,758 124,948
Non-controlling interests FEERES 1,236 2,704
Total equity REmBE 239,994 127,652

On behalf of the directors REXES

Director Director
E=a EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

Non-
Capital Statutory Retained controlling Total
Capital reserve* reserve* profits* Sub-total interests equity
% EARE EERET  REERC M FERER ERAE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFE  AREFn  ARETFr ARETr AREFr  AREFr  AREFr
(Note b)
(Hizb)
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H = 54,204 5,072 20,152 79,428 3,466 82,894
Profit and total comprehensive ~ E£REHN R 2 AENHLEE

income for the year — — — 34,761 34,761 (593) 34,168
Capital contribution by equity HBARREREATE

holder of subsidiary — 9,727 — — 9,727 — 9,727
Capital contribution by non- FERERTE

controlling interests — — — — — 1,469 1,469
Disposal of carve out business  HERFEM(Mita)

(Note ) - 1,020 . . 1,020 - 1,020
Disposal of subsidiary HEHBAR — - = = = (1,626) (1,626)
Appropriation to statutory BREAERE

reserves — — 1,925 (1,913) 12 (12) —
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12A31 AR

1 January 2018 201851511 = 64,951 6,997 53,000 124,948 2,704 127,652
Profit and total comprehensive  EREFI K2 EANELE

income for the year — — — 43,219 43,219 (56) 43,163
Capital contribution by equity MEAREERBALE

holder of subsidiary — 70,001 — — 70,001 — 70,001
Issue of shares BiRM 195 378 - - 573 — 573
Disposal of subsidiary LEHBAR — - — — — (1,395) (1,395)
Appropriation to statutory ERE TR

reserves — — 397 (380) 17 (17) —
At 31 December 2018 ®2018%12531H 195 135,330 7,394 95,839 238,758 1,236 239,994
* The total of these amounts as at the reporting dates represents * RERH  ZESENBEEREMBKRAERS

“Reserves’ in the consolidated statements of financial position. K[ &4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

Notes:

(a)

It represented the RMB510,000 capital injected to carved out business,
which is not related to the Listing Businesses, on 29 January 2016.
The carved out business was separated managed by a specific
management team and the books and record are managed by a
separated accounting team.

On 17 December 2017, the carved out business was fully disposed to
the third party with consideration received of RMB1,020,000.

Statutory reserve represented the amount transferred from net profit
for the year of the subsidiaries established in the PRC (based on the
subsidiaries PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reach 50% of the
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot
be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated losses or
increasing capital.

Bt -

(b)

BN 201641 A20 AME FMEKEEAN D FE
BHEE AR 510,0007T c DIFEBHIETE R
BB EE MR GESREL S ERER -

R2017F 128178 - HIFEBKE2BLETFE=
7 BB AR 1,020,000 7T °

EEBEERBAEDREZATEKZMERR
BV E AR RIBHTE A R A BUEE M B HRK) 8
BNER  BERRCRHEEDZZHEARZME
AHI50% ° FRIFAMNIKIH R BRIEMER » &
AR A E F S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF -CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥TFTT AREFT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBRERE
Profit before income tax expense B BT 45 54 58 =2 A v ) 42,866 34,414
Adjustments for: AT HIELRHE -
Change in fair value of financial assets at ZAREFF ABENMIEEER
fair value through profit or loss NREEE (1,613) (633)
Amortisation of intangible assets BT EE 5,907 1,116
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERRETE
equipment 126 109
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss & 5 & W 518 5 (E 518
on trade receivables B (BE) 235 (110)
Provision for impairment loss on contract & )& R (B 18 &
assets 4,482 2,308
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERRENER
equipment 209 —
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net & B BB A R Y ES 18 F B 110 344
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair HE&ER QA B ABRRIIHTE
value through profit or loss BEME — (1)
Interest income FEMKA (694) (260)
Operating profit before working capital EiEE ¢ BRI L 5T
changes 51,628 37,287
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B ZREWFIE (1L H0) R (25,296) 2,248
Increase in contract assets EREEM (56,859) (28,503)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and Be AN FE K H A FE W GRE
other receivables 0 (8,722) (924)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at IR A R EFT ABRNH B EE
fair value through profit or loss w, () 37,671 (25,425)
Decrease in amounts due from related FE WS R i 5 RIE R
parties —_ 636
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from FEUR SR AR R 2SR A (18 hn)
non-controlling interests 640 (1,170)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEM) W (67) 2,609
Increase in trade payables B 5 e sRIEIE N 35,953 4,236
Increase in contract liabilities BRI B EE N 878 1,671
Increase in accruals and other payables — FE&tE F3 & E &~ FRIELE fn 28,432 2,945
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &KL EEFFS,(FFA)RE 64,258 (4,390)
Income tax paid BB (143) (5,021)
Net cash generated from/(used in) wETEEN NS (FTA)ReFE
operating activities 64,115 (9,411)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥TFTT AREFor
Cash flows from investing activities REZBAERENE
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash LEMBAR  HKRAMERS
disposed (2,471) 1,722
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE (16,524) (6,082)
Payment of development cost for S ER A ERRBERA
intangible assets (4,439) (3,008)
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  BERERE
equipment (245) (588)
Proceed from disposal of property, plant  HEWE - MERREBAEHIE
and equipment 21 —
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HEZRAARBEABRHNTHE
at fair value through profit or loss ERS A — 5,000
Advancement to a related company M — [ REE R R # R — (8,000)
Repayment of amount due from a related B —FEIRIE R FIER
company —_ 13,000
Proceed from disposal of carve out HEDIFEBABRIEA
business — 1,020
Interest income received B F 2 WA 694 260
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEB () FBEReFE
investing activities (22,964) 3,324
Cash flows from financing activities MEEDAFRERE
Proceed from issuance of share capital BITRANFIB IR 573 —
Proceed from capital contribution by ME QR REFEATERN
equity holder of subsidiary ZiECE e 70,001 9,727
Increase in amounts due from JE AT R 3R R TE A
shareholders (188) —
Net cash generated from financing RETEMBESFER
activities 70,386 9,727
Net increase in cash and cash RERBESEMEINFHR
equivalents 111,537 3,640
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ¥R E£RESZEY
of the year 21,375 17,735
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the HFREEKRIEEEHEY
year 132,912 21,375
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
March 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies laws Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands.
The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 14 March 2019. The addresses of Company’s
registered office is located at the office of Walkers Corporate
Limited, Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital Road, George
Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman lIslands. The
Company’s principal place of business is located at PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company collectively refer to as the “Group”) are provision
of online advertising services and online sales services (the

“Listing Business”).

Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Company in connection
with the listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange (the “Reorganisation”), the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the Group
in 2018. Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the section
headed “History and Reorganisation” in the prospectus dated
28 February 2019.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSS

a) Early adoption of nhew standards, interpretations and

amendments

The Group has consistently applied the accounting
policies which conform with HKFRSs (including HKFRS
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” and
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”), which are effective
for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2018
throughout the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR LA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

—REH
RARNR2018F3 26 HRBEHERS
RADEFRRERHEHSTMKLAE
BEBRAR - ARFNR2019F3 A 14
HREBBERGMAERAAE £M o &K
A A B L 3 = B2 & Walkers Corporate
Limited 8 #% 2 Z= - #h 4k & Cayman
Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital Road,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-
9008, Cayman lIslands ° KA A EE &
En BRI E o

ARAMEBRBEB /T EER - MAE
MEBARCGERIARRGRE R ANEE DB
IZXBREHAREBE LESRERE L
HERBG ([ EMERK]) -

RIBEANA R B AN A A IR D AR B R BT i
THEHA(EMA])  NAER2018F 5K
BREERRETNARMNIZERAR - 24
MRS E N BB A201942 A28 B ) 14
RERIFEE REH|—EF o

FERAMIIREEIEEMBREE
A

a) RERAMTER  REBRET

AEBEERB E20184F k2017 F
12AMBLEFEAN—BEARNESR
BB E LR (BEE BN ERE
ERE1RIEFP AN IRE B
M mEERIEIOHRIMBITA])
ZEEARKR2018F 1 A1BHAKM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets,
financial liabilities, general hedge accounting and

impairment requirements for financial assets

Key requirement of HKFRS 9 which is relevant to the
Group is in relation to the impairment of financial
assets, of which HKFRS 9 requires an expected
credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit
loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss
model requires an entity to account for expected credit
losses and changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised. The related accounting
policy is set out in Note 4.10(a) to the consolidated

financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group applies
the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use
of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade and
other receivables (excluding prepayments and other

receivables from related parties).

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue

BB BHEERFIRMBELR

BBMBREENE IR ADEAR
SIEMBEE WKARE  —RY
HERIENTAERMBEEN
ERTE

BB RELENFEIR P ERE
E R E AR E R E E AR
B BEEGHERFEI95RIA TZ
EELAGEEBEEXAEER &
BB TSR 5 AE RIS O SR AR TE R TR HAE
EEEREXGE BHEEBEEE
ARTEERFN SRS R HNTEE
EEEELRZERPEEEENE
AR UARBEERR B YRR
RBARNES - T2 - BABRF
BEEESHIRREEEBSE -
e BERANGEE M B RKI
4.10(a) °

2018 22017 F12 A31H » A%
EfERE SV BHREERE KA
AR T AR TEREEEBE
LEE ATMBEESREMER
(T IETEA FRIE R eI REE S
H 5138 ) A {5 A EAPR A T8 B e 18 1%
1 o

BB BHEEREISHEFEN
Wz

BREMBHRELRNE 15RO R
ATy —EEBERER NS ARIRA
EFEEAGEMAREOEE
W RREEIERARMZE S m IR
BMESHNRE - BEMBREE
Al 155% 5| A HE R W & 19 B @ 5

recognition: B

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer F—4: HREXRSZEBNELD

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the F-H: BABOPZBITER
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price F=H: BEXSHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

b)

DOUMOB

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each

performance obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognises
revenue when (or as) performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers. The related accounting policy is set out in

Note 4.13 to the consolidated financial statements.

New standards, interpretations and amendments not

yet effective

The following new standards, interpretations and
amendments, which are not yet effective and have not
been adopted early in these financial statements, will

or may have an effect on the Group’s future financial

%%%
FRY: EERBTERBEBURER
el 6

RN T A B IR EER E 155
% EEHR)BITRAOERK - A
HFFRAORBEBOERIRE
WESE EE TERPR - A5H
R - B BRBEREE
WIS HmERMITE4.13

b) EAREMBEETER  RERER]

VAR 8 2R A Kk B 3 2 7 48 BE B 75 3R
RIBAIE R ETET LR - 2ERE
AR g g AEE B &
B RENTE

statements:

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 19
Amendments to
HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements

2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

TEMRARAE

Lease'

Insurance Contracts®

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures'

Uncertainty over income tax
treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23!

Definition of Material®

Definition of Business®

BRARREENZ 165

BREBREERE 7v

BREBREERE R
CHES

EREHREENE 105)
FheEz g
s

BReHENE 9%
A

B el BHRETA

Fh(ARAHRSRERR
2REEBY

NI5EFNTEBRNER

i

FReENZ 1HRER
EHENZSRETE

ERUHREENRIR
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LEHEREAEE

GH Qe

RRERN A RR'
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

The amendments were originally intended to be effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The
effective date has now been deferred/removed. Early

application of the amendments continue to be permitted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

Except as described below, the directors do not
anticipate that the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs will have material impact on the Group’s
financial statements and/or the disclosures to the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
HKFRS 16 — Lease

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede
HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations,
introduces a single lessee accounting model and
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for
all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under
HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the underlying
leased asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a
lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of
use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also
classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a
principal portion and an interest portion and presents
them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-
use asset and the lease liability are initially measured
on a present value basis. The measurement includes
non-cancellable lease payments and also includes
payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the
lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly different from
the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as
operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS
17.

! R20194% 1 A1 BN ERBZEE
AR AR

2 202141 F1 BRAERFRZEE
BRI AR

s EETARREN 201641 A1 Bk 2%
PR E BRI AR - £ H BB ER
SBUE o ABET AR FIREREH -

¢ R20205 1 A1 HUARHABZEE
AR A2

BTt &SN BEIRF - BAHA]
REETNE BN B REZERS
TEHAEENTBHERR, X
AEENGAVBRREBEKE
REE -

EBUBHEERE165% — HE

FEPBHRELERE 165 A ERH
ERIRKEL T ERFE17HRIE
ElkBE®RE E5AE—#H
ABRTREEN - AR EAHE A
RHBB12EA 2 mEHEEER

ENEBE BRIFEMREERKEE
BERIER® - HBEME  RIES
B BREENFE 165 - ABEAR
HRAEREEE(SEERABE
EREZRNREEEE(REX
NEERBEZEME) - Bt &M
ANEHRERAREENEREER
BAE  UHEERBEZREER
DER/AEWO RMNEHMLD » TR
ReERERAZY - Wtoh EH%E
BEENMNHBEABYVIZRAEELER
E-FGESBITHUREEAENR
TR BAE AR A A BRI S E ST L
EEREEAERITEEEERL
HE RNEZRAEABIELZM
Koo W EETREEEAEA S
BRIBTERETR  KREBERNE
BRIER] - BNEB S ERIF 17
%o D RAKEREZHE -

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

DOUMOB

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor
continues to classify its leases as operating leases or
finance leases, and to account for those two types of

leases differently.

As set out in Note 28, total operating lease commitment
as lessee of the Group in respect of leased premises as
at 31 December 2018 amounted to RMB56,000 (2017:
RMB99,000). The directors of the Group do not expect
the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared with the current
accounting policy would result in significant impact on
the Group’s result but it is expected that certain portion
of these lease commitments will be required to be
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

The Group intends to elect the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were
not previously identified as containing a lease applying
HKAS 17 and HK (IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group
will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain
a lease which already existed prior to the date of initial

application.

Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the modified
retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS
16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect
of initial application to opening retained profits without

restating comparative information.

TEMRARAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

These consolidated financial statements present the
Listing Businesses of the Group, representing the
activities, assets and liabilities of the Group’s online
advertising and online sales sector. The consolidated
financial statements reflect the substance of the
activities, assets and liabilities attributable to Listing
Businesses. The legal structure was not considered
the key factor in determining the perimeter of the
consolidated financial statements, but rather the basis
of the economic activities. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a “carve-out basis”
from the Group consolidated financial statements for
the purpose of presenting the financial position, results
of operations and cash flows of Listing Businesses on a
stand-alone basis. The consolidated financial statements
present the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses
and cash flows attributable to Listing Businesses for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless otherwise

indicated.

3.

mBLE%E

3.1 EHIEH
SRR TDBEFTEDE SR
g((EFSTMAe )EMRNNE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

3.2

3.3

DOUMOB

Transactions and balances previously reported as part
of the Group have been attributed to Listing Businesses
based on specific identification. The operation of the
Listing Businesses were separated managed by a
specific management team. The books and record of the
Listing Businesses were managed by its own accounting
team. As such, it is not necessary for the Group to make
any allocation of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses
and cash flows attributable to Listing Businesses from
carve out businesses for the year ended 31 December
2017.

The Listing Businesses excluded Cloud Traffic (Beijing)
Technology Co., Ltd. which is the carved out business
of the Group (“Carve out business”). This company was
engaged in the distribution of data packages. Carve
out business was transferred to an independent third
party during the year ended 31 December 2017. The
financial information of the carved out business has not
been included in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017 as it distinct and
separate management personnel, maintained separate
accounting records and has been financed separately
as if it was autonomous and it was in dissimilar business

and operations.
Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, unless

otherwise indicated.
Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is same as the presentation currency of

the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

4.1

Basis of presentation

In preparation of the listing of the Company’s shares on
Stock Exchange (the “Listing”), the Group underwent a
reorganisation (“Reorganisation”) to rationalise its group

structure.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 26 March 2018 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Cayman lIslands Companies
Law. Pursuant to the Group Reorganisation as detailed
in the section headed “History and Reorganisation” in
the prospectus dated 28 February 2019, the Company
became the holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group in 2018. The Company,
Doumob BVI, Doumob HK and WFOE (together, the
“Non-operating Companies”) are newly incorporated
companies as part of the Reorganisation and none
of these new holding companies carried out any
businesses since their incorporation. The Non-operating
Companies are inserted as holding companies of
Doumob Technology, have no substance, have not been
involved in any business and do not meet the definition

of a business.

4.1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

4.2

DOUMOB

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statements
of changes in equity and consolidated statements
of cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 include the results and cash flows of all
companies now comprising the Group as if the current
structure had been in existence throughout the year
ended 31 December 2018, or since their respective
dates of acquisition or incorporation/establishment,
whichever is the shorter period. The consolidated
statements of financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2018 and 2017 have been prepared to
present the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries
and/or businesses using the existing book values, as
if the current structure had been in existence at these
dates or since their respective dates of acquisition or
incorporation/establishment, whichever is the shorter
period. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values,
or recognise any new assets or liabilities as a result of

the Reorganisation.

All intra-group transactions and balances have been

eliminated between the combining entities.
Basis of combination

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give
it power, including:

o The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o Potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders and other parties; and

o Rights arising from other contractual
arrangements.

Combination of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed during the year are included in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of

the Company and to the non-controlling interests.

Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting

policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

combination.
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4.3

4.4

DOUMOB

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS).

Merger accounting

The Reorganisation involved only inserting new holding
companies on top of Doumob Technology and has
not resulted in any change of economic substance
with continuous common control by the Shareholders.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared using the principles of merger
accounting as if the current group structure had been
in existence throughout the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

4.5

4.6

The consolidated statements of comprehensive income
include the results of each of the combining entities
from the earliest date presented or since the dates of
incorporation of the combining entities, where this is a
shorter period, regardless of the date of the common

control combination.

All inter-company transactions and balances have been

eliminated on combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period
unless the combining entities were incorporated at a

later date.
Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of

control.
Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on

the acquisition date, after re-assessment.
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4.7

DOUMOB

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see Note
5.18), and whenever there is an indication that the unit

may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the
unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will not
reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit

or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes as described below, other
than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

4.8

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their costs net of estimated residual values
over their estimated useful lives on straight-line method.
The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 — 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Computers 3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in

profit or loss on disposal.
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.
The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term, except where another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term

of the lease.
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4.9

DOUMOB

The land and buildings elements of property leases
are considered separately for the purposes of lease

classification.
Intangible assets

(i) Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over their useful lives as follows. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
The amortisation expense is recognised in
profit or loss and included in cost of sales and

administrative expenses.

Software 3 years

Subscription accounts 3 years

(ii) Internally generated intangible assets (research

and development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is

capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:

o it is technically feasible to develop the

product for it to be sold;

° adequate resources are available to

complete the development;

o there is an intention to complete and sell the
product;

° the Group is able to sell the product;

° sale of the product will generate future

economic benefits; and expenditure on the

project can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from
selling the products developed. The amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and
included in cost of sales and administrative

expenses.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above
criteria and expenditure on the research phase of
internal projects are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.
(iii)  Impairment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested
for impairment when there is an indication that
an asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they may be impaired. Intangible
assets are tested for impairment by comparing
their carrying amounts with their recoverable

amounts (see Note 4.17).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable

amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as revaluation decrease to the

extent of its revaluation surplus.
4.10 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument.
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DOUMOB

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
(a) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of

the financial assets.
Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at

amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash

flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are

subsequently measured at FVTPL.
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Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant

period.

For financial instruments other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses
(“ECL”), through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition. For purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated
by discounting the estimated future cash flows,
including ECL, to the amortised cost of the debt

instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the
amount at which the financial asset is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repayments,
plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference
between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On
the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial

asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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DOUMOB

=B
X mm

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial
instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial

asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, the Group recognises interest
income by applying the credit-adjusted effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from initial recognition. The calculation does
not revert to the gross basis even if the credit
risk of the financial asset subsequently improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-

impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and

is included in the “other income” line item.
Decognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL”) on the financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The Group
measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL. For trade receivables and contract
assets, the Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which requires the use of the lifetime
expected losses provision for all trade receivables
and contract assets.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are
classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is
neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.
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o Debt instruments that do not meet the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if such designation eliminates
or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency that would
arise from measuring assets or liabilities
or recognising the gains and losses on
them on different bases. The Group has
not designated any debt instruments as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner

described in note 5(v).
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the
spot rate at the end of each reporting period. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the “other income and other net gains/

(losses)” line item.
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Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-

looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original

effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to

receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective
basis to cater for cases where evidence of
significant increases in credit risk at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following

basis:
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=B
X mm

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade receivables, contract assets,
amounts due from related companies of
trade nature (except for related parties
under common control of Doumob
Technology) and other receivables are each

assessed as a separate group);

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors;
° Nature of collaterals for accounts

receivables; and
° External credit rating where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount

through a loss allowance account.
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the

following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial

covenants by the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the

Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset

have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes the following observable data:
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past due event; Bt

o it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or the disappearance of
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an active market for a security because of KERTE o

financial difficulties.
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the RERE B Bk i 2% A 2 31| FE 7Y
consolidated statement of financial position EEE 1R E

Loss allowances for financial assets measured
at amortised cost are deducted from the gross

carrying amount of the assets.
Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
However, financial assets that are written off could
still be subject to enforcement activities in order to
comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery

of amounts due.
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(b)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified either as financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when

the financial liability is designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at

amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a
shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial

liability.
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated
in a foreign currency and are measured at
amortised cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are
determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the “other income and
other net gains/(losses)” line item in profit or loss
in note 7 for financial liabilities that are not part of

a designated hedging relationship.
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,

is recognised in profit or loss.
4.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
in hand as well as short term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value.
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Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary

to make the sale.
Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to

customers.

Control of the services may be transferred over time or
at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred

over time if:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consume the benefits provided by the entity’s

performance as the entity performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the services.
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(0

Provision of online advertising services

The Group’s principal services are the provision
of online advertising services. The Group utilises
a combination of pricing models and revenue
is recognised when the related services are
delivered based on the specific terms of the

contract, which are commonly based on:

(a) Specified actions (i.e. cost per action
(“CPA”) and related campaign budgets,
depending on the advertisers’ preferences

and their campaigns launched), or

(b) Agreed rebates to be earned from certain

media publishers.

The amount of revenue the Group recognises from
the provision of advertising services is affected
by the Group’s role under each particular contract
with customers. For contracts where the Group
acts as principal, the Group recognises revenue
on a gross basis while for contracts where the
Group acts as agent, the Group recognises
revenue on a net basis. For further details on
the Group’s revenue recognition policy in this
respect, see “Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements — Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies”. The combination of the
Group’s revenue from the provision of advertising
services measured by the portion of revenue
recognised on a gross basis and net basis, does
not impact the Group’s gross and net profit but
will affect the Group’s gross margin and net

margin.
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Specified actions

The Group has determined that it acts as the
principal of these arrangements and therefore
recognised revenue earned and costs incurred
related to these transactions on a gross basis.
Revenue is recognised on a CPA basis once
agreed actions (download, activation, registration
and etc.) are performed. While none of the factors
individually are considered presumptive or
determinative, because the Group is the primary
obligor and are responsible for (1) identifying and
contracting with third-party advertisers which the
Group views as customers; (2) identifying media
publishers to provide online advertising spaces
where the Group views the media publishers as
suppliers; (3) establishing the selling prices of
CPA pricing model; (4) performing all billing and
collection activities, including retaining credit risk;
and (5) bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment
of the advertising. Under this arrangement, the
Group records the rebates earned from the
media publishers as a reduction of cost of sales.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time basis

when the customer obtains control of the services.
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(i)

(iii)

Agreed rebates to be earned from certain media
publishers

In the arrangement with certain media publishers,
the Group acts as an agent, rather than a
principal for these media publishers by having
marketing clients market with this publisher.
Media publishers grant to the Group rebates in
the form of cash based on contractually stipulated
amounts once certain spending thresholds are
achieved. The Group considers these particular
media publishers as customers and reports
revenue earned and cost incurred related to these
transactions as a net basis, and recognises the
amount of rebates granted by media publishers
as revenue. Rebates from these media publishers
are calculated on a quarterly or an annual basis
in accordance with the terms as agreed in
arrangements. Revenue is recognised at a point
in time basis when the customer obtains control of

the services.
Provision of online sales services

Revenue from online sales services is recognised
at a point in time basis upon delivery of goods
sold which is based on agreed commission with

customers.
Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the

effective interest rate applicable.
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Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are deducted in reporting the related expense or
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted the grant in calculating the
carrying amount of the asset that is recognised in profit
or loss over the life of a depreciable asset as a reduced
depreciation expense. An unconditional government
grant is recognised in profit or loss as other revenue

when the grant becomes receivable.
Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amount of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused

tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account
if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be

utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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DOUMOB

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the

related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

o in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously; or

o in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.

TEMRARAE

BERIEEEZ REAERSREH
REH AR PAAIESR EHER
BRFAFN A 2RI L EERE
R fE T UABIR - (BB AT aE A B 4
EERRBUE N - FOBER KR

Ao kB EMELE ZBINTEHR -
RN EEREZEEERRET
VATERR ©

7 HA Tt T8 A R N Al AIE B TR A4 R e
BHBWEOHIE WA THEHE -
i A X B 3 AN 6% B O TE 98 il 4 DA
AMREEERFEAYHIBRAE -
I A& AT & R0 - AET IR
BENMEEHRBEER 2RI EHEA

«  BAREREEERAR
NGEZSS FEetrad
CRETIET SR
SAME %

s MARAETHAEERAE @ &%
FEERABEMBAER—HB
MR SA T B i — IR Z P
BHAER :

— R ERHRER: %

— TRAEMAVER ZF
ERENBHAREER
EHRBEABEFREER
EREBRIREERA S EZ
BERWHEMME - RFEE
EGREARNARIRE E R
BEAHBEAR =X
RS ZERZEENEE
ZEfE -

B M

fill3
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4.16 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Defined contribution retirement plan

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
PRC government, the Group participates in a
central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government (the “Scheme”), whereby
the subsidiary of the Company in the PRC is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the
basic salaries of its employees to the Scheme
to fund their retirement benefits. The local
municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of the subsidiary
of the Company. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as incurred. There are no provisions
under the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions

may be used to reduce future contributions.
Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government — supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and
other social insurances are expensed as incurred.
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4.17 Impairment of other assets

DOUMOB

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

o property, plant and equipment;
o intangible assets; and

o goodwill

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.
Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-

generating unit).
Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of the assets in the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if

measurable), or value in use, (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

4.18

4.19

I 5 8 & Y &

Fal= g

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favorable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment
loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which

the reversals are recognised.
Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the

Group’s major product lines.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
directors assess segment profit or loss by gross profit

or loss as measured in HKFRSs financial statements.

For the purpose of presenting geographical location
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
the Group’s non-current assets, country of domicile
is determined by reference to the country where the

majority of the Company’s subsidiaries operate.
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of

the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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4.20

DOUMOB

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefit is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(0
(if)

(iiif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(0)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the

Group or an entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or

of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Company'’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their

dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s

spouse or domestic partner.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to

be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.
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Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Principal versus agent considerations — revenue from

provision of online advertising services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or
as an agent in the provision of online advertising services
requires judgements and considerations of all relevant facts
and circumstances. The Group is a principal in a transaction
if the Group obtains control of services provided before they
are transferred to customers. If control is unclear, when the
Group is primarily obligated in a transaction, and has latitude
in establishing prices and selecting publishers, or has several
but not all of these indicators, the Group records revenues on
a gross basis. Otherwise, the Group records the net amount

earned as commissions from services provided.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(i)  Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment and amortises intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in Notes
4.7 and 4.9 respectively. The estimated useful lives
reflect the directors’ estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from
the use of these assets. The management reassesses
the estimated useful lives at the end of each of the

reporting period.
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(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets

The impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group
adopts judgement in making these assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables and impairment
losses in the periods in which such estimate has been
changed.

Estimates of current tax and deferred tax

Significant judgment is required in determining the
amount of the provision for tax and the timing of
payment of the related tax. Where the final tax outcomes
are different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination is made.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
of cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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(v) Fair value measurement

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss utilises
market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique

utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):

o Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for

identical items (unadjusted);

o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other

than Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised

in the period they occur.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segment, has been identified as the executive

directors of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of online
advertising services and online sales services in the PRC.
Management reviews the operating results of the business as
two operating segments to make decisions about resources to
be allocated. Therefore, the chief operating decision maker of
the Company regards that there are two segments which are

used to make strategic decisions.

The major operating entity of the Group is domiciled in the
PRC. Accordingly, all of the Group’s revenue were derived in
the PRC.

All of the non-current assets were located in the PRC.
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The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers RBEHRNIZWEERAEREISHNEFES
by the timing of revenue recognition during the reporting DS ITT -

period is as follows:

2017
2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBFor
At a point in time PR — {IE B [ 26 352,611 222,927
Revenue mainly comprises of proceeds from online WHFERIERFEERS MG EHEER
advertising services and online sales services. An analysis BB RIE - REBREZ2018F &
of the Group’s revenue by category for the years ended 31 2017 F 12 A31 HIEFE M= IZ E R E
December 2018 and 2017 was as follows: DER)DATUT ¢
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARBFr
Online advertising services W EESRE 350,183 215,314
Online sales services iR S R 2,428 7,613
352,611 222,927
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT ARMFr
Online advertising services # L EERS
— Gross method — ERE 350,179 215,268
— Net method — FEE 4 46
Online sales services 4R S IR 2,428 7,613
352,611 222,927
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B B SRR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes nil
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of
the Group’s revenues for the year ended 31 December 2018

(2017: one). Revenues from these customers are set out

AEEHEEZ LR PR - BiE 20184
12A31BLEFESTR(2017F : —R)E
FHRSBEHBANEE N EAN10% - 2%
BEEHREHIINAT -

below.

2018 2017
2018 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFT

Customer A Z2EA N/A*
TEA* 44,479

N/A*
TEA* 44,479

represents that the amount of revenue from that customer is less
than 10% of the total revenue of that year.

(a) Assets recognised from incremental costs to obtain

a contract

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
there was no significant incremental costs to obtain a

contract.
(b) Details of contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related

contract liabilities:

Contract liabilities (Note) BHEREHZE)

(a)

(b)

EZBEPH RS ERZFEREBRDN
10% °

HEMSHNEERABANEE

HZE2018F N 2017412 A31 H Ik
FE BEAENANMEELAERXN
B o

BREEFE

AEBEEERATERZAENE
MAfE :

2017

2017 &

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFT
4,498 3,620

Note: The contract liabilities represented the aggregate amount
of the transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the
reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations will

be recognised as revenue in one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

(0

Significant changes in contract liabilities (i) BHEEEAZE
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from AEENESHNEBETIERER
the advance payments made by customers while PETEMNKIE @ mABERBE
the underlying services are yet to be provided. HAERE c ZFEEBEELRE
Such liabilities increase as a result of the growth BB R Mg o
of the Group’s business.
The following table shows how much of the TRERANREBHAEREK
revenue recognised in the current reporting period =P BEZVEERENEE
carried-forward contract liabilities:
2018 2017
2018 2017 &F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFr
Balance at 1 January A A1 BE&E 3,620 1,949
Decrease in contract liabilities HF AR AE]
as a result of recognising EHEENKEmRD
revenue during the year that WE AR
was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of
the year (3,162) (1,801)
Increase in contract liabilities as EIEEMA FREEEES
a result of billing in advance of T ARE ML IMNNE L
online advertising activities Aafg 4,040 3,472
Balance at 31 December M 12 A 31 BE &gk 4,498 3,620

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %R

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS/ 7. HtsWARHEMEE (&E)FE
(LOSSES)
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMFT
Interest income FLEWA 694 260
Government grants (Note i) BERATF BN (AT et i) 695 1,732
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net S M B A R R 1R R (110) (344)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at ~ HEZR AR Bt ABSEWI B
fair value through profit or loss BEWE — 1
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HE®WE « BEMRENEER
equipment (209) —
Others HAtb (3) (9)
1,067 1,640
Note (i): Government grants mainly represent tax subsidy on Hat(): BRHEBEZARFRENNSERE

BB IR G R T SR R o

various tax paid and industry incentive in PRC.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RMEMAX

HZE2018FE 12 A31 B IEFE @ HERER
EBEKAN(2017 : ) °

No finance costs has been recognised for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE/ 9.
(CREDIT)

Profit before income tax expense/(credit) is arrived at after

charging/(crediting) the following:

BRETIGBLAASE, (3K %) AR

BRATEBR X (E %) Bng R Mk~
FEANATRIBEH :

2018 2017
2018 2017 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARETFr

Auditors’ remuneration ZERTI & 500 400
Amortisation of intangible assets mR BRI (M)

(Note i) 5,907 1,116
Research and development expenditure FFZER & 886 718
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BEREZETE

equipment 126 109
Operating lease charges in respect of: AN FFENKLLHEERY

— Rented premises — AWM= 1,862 1,295
Listing expenses EmAX 17,596 —
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment SN IE R EEIEEE

loss on trade receivables (Note 20) (Bm)(Hfaz20) 235 (110)
Provision for impairment loss on BREEREBERE

contract assets (Note 21) (BtaE21) 4,482 2,308
Staff costs (including directors’ EIRAN(BEEENE —

emoluments — Note 13): Kt 13) :

— Salaries, wages and other benefits — ¥ TERHEMFIZE 14,370 9,175

— Retirement scheme contribution — RIRGT SR 3,014 2,703

17,384 11,878
Note: Hiat -

(i) Amortisation of intangible assets was included in “cost of sales”
and “administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

() EPEEBERNGERaREMEERER
REPNE:ZNVAES G
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

10. FIBBL(ER) FAX

2018 2017
2018 2017 4

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFr
Current tax B A 18

Tax for the current year NEAFIE 10 233

Deferred tax (Note 18) EER B (A7 18)

(Credited)/charged to profit or (5t AN) /A FEARERS

loss for the year (307) 13
(297) 246

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman

Islands.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is

not subject to any income tax in the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “CIT Law”),
which became effective on 1 January 2008, the Group’s PRC
entities are subject to income tax at a rate of 25%, unless

otherwise specified.

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax rate
on the estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the
existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in PRC is 25%.
A subsidiary of the Group in PRC was approved as High and
New Technology Enterprise, and is subjected to a preferential

income tax rate of 15% in certain years.

5 years tax free period has been granted by local tax authority

to certain subsidiaries in PRC since 2017.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR LA

REFASEHSNMRANRMRM - NEEEH
SREBABMEMAEH -

REBERBREZESNHRAIREAN - AEH
FRBRE LS HASMNEMREH

BERAEEREE2018F 12 A31 B IEF
BN EE DB EEERY m A (2017 F ¢
) EBARESFSHIEDERE -

BB R 2008F 1 A1H EMH P EDE
FiiERA([EMBHIED  KRIESEHE
FTHR - AREER A EE R BERAEHE
25% FA ©

AN 55 [k AP B P A ) A T R L D BT IS R
BEHEDERBRAELN  FHARERER -
B HR G Ah 51 FE SR BUR 7 R 8 A B X &t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

11.

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be

reconciled to the profit before income tax expense per

the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

FRMEHAS(ER)AEEERER
Hofth 2 T &R 2R Y RO BR BT 1S B2 58 S BTD& A
HERMT :

2018 2017

2018 2017 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FTT ARBFr

Profit before income tax expense BR BT 15 %1 5 =2 B i 42,866 34,414
Tax calculated at the rates applicable BEBREE &R KR
to profits in the tax jurisdictions HERANBERTENFIE

concerned (5,611) (1,621)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAIMB A OB B2

for tax purposes 4,202 1,037
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax — HB7ERF U A KT 552 2

purposes — (128)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  AERHIEBEOTIETE 1,419 945

Tax effect of temporary difference EEREGRE=HEANMRIETE
recognised (307) 13
Income tax (credit)/expense FTi8®i (F®) Fx (297) 246

DIVIDENDS

11.

On 15 June 2018, Daniu Internet declared an aggregate

dividend of approximately RMB934,000 to its shareholder.

On 15 June 2018, Feixun Hewo declared an aggregate
dividend of approximately RMB3,146,000 to its shareholder.

Save as above, no other dividends has been paid or declared

by the Company since its date of incorporation.

8=

MN2018%E6 A158 » KEMEEHKRE
TIRA) AR 934,000 ST B ©

R201846 A15H » RAMK R H IR
TR AR 3,146,000 TTAX B ©

BRIA_ERR BN - AR F B AL B HifE
W IR R E IR EARE. ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

DOUMOB

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

Profit attributable to the owners of

the Company (RMB’000) (AE#BTFr)
Weighted average number of
(FAR)

ordinary shares in issue

(thousand shares)

Basic earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company
(RMB per share)

ARBER AEGEET

B 31T &R A A N 18 21

ARAHAANRIEBRER
BN (EZRARRET)

12. BRER

(a)

- %N

BREANBHNOFET AR RE
A ANBIEFRRFMRAFEAD 3
TEBREINEFIDE -

2018 2017

2018 £ 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT ABR¥TFT
43,219 34,761
2,094,723 2,079,832
0.021 0.017

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all potentially
dilutive ordinary shares. The Company has one category
of potentially dilutive ordinary shares: share awards. For
the share awards, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired
at fair value (determined as the average market share
price of the Company’s shares for the period) based on
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to outstanding share awards. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the

exercise of the share awards.

TEMRARAE

(b)

e

BREFRANNGAET A BREE
B BB R A E B
HECDBHTEBRNMNEFSE -
ARRBE-—BABEEERENE
B Bty BB - BLAX ) BRE) T
T REARITERND EE T RE
ROEBEERNE  UEBTAEA
RE(EA/ARRR RN HANFHH
B)BENRNEE - R TG
BHI R BB E R D RENETT
RS BITHIARM BB ELLE -



For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the

calculation of diluted earnings per share was based on

the profit attributable to owners of the Company and the

adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding assuming the conversion of all potential

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

HZE2018F K 201712 A31H It
FE - SRESAEFTHBEARRAG
HEEABGEZFREETERRD
KRAEMETSEGTE - TERE
FBEBEESERAREER

| s

al =
dilutive ordinary shares, which was calculated as FIEMT ¢
follows:
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Profit attributable to the owners of NAEIHER AFEML =T
the Company (RMB'000) (ARKFT) 43,219 34,761
Weighted average number of BT B AR R I 2
ordinary shares in issue (FA&)
(thousand shares) 2,094,723 2,079,832
Adjustments for share awards B0 SEEN B (AR
(thousand shares) 546 —
Weighted average number of TR EEE BRI Y 8 AR
ordinary shares for diluted B FAR)
earnings per share
(thousand shares) 2,095,269 2,079,832
Basic earnings per share attributable 7R R)# A A B FRRER
to the owners of the Company B (EZRAREET)
(RMB per share) 0.021 0.017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i E MRk M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. ESERFETHRABNMERAN

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEEFHAL

INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=Me
Details of directors’ emoluments for the years ended HZE2018F ;2017412 A 31 H 1k
2018 and 2017 are as follows: FESEEMEFBLT :

DOUMOB

Salaries,
allowance Retirement
and benefits- Discretionary scheme
Fees in-kind bonuses contributions
E2 = 1)
He BUAR BEEAL RAEMER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFR  AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFZ
Year ended Bz 20185

31 December 2018 12A31 ALLEE
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Yang Bin (note (ii)) a5 (AT (i) — 264 244 114 622
Ms. Chen Xiaona (note (iii)  FREEfBZ L (412 (iii) — 445 244 91 780
Mr. Zheng Shunqi (note (iii)) — ESIBEESE & (A2 (i) — 272 244 72 588
Ms. Shi Hui (note (iii)) WS &+ (M52 (i) - 285 244 79 608
Non-executive director FHTEZE
Ms. Wang Ge (note (iv)) FEZ LM (iv)) — — — — -
Mr. Yang Zhenghong BIEREEZ ()

(note (v)) — — — — —
Independent non-executive BV IHITEE

director
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong R S (B3 (vi)

(note (vi)) — - — - -
Mr. Liu Binghai (note (vi)) BIRB K (2 (vi) - — - - -
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (note (vi)) — EE#E & E (M (vi) - - - - -

- 1,266 976 356 2,598
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B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

Salaries,
allowance Retirement
and benefits-  Discretionary scheme
Fees in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 2R
ik EMAlE WEEa  RIGHEER et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT
Year ended BZ2017F
31 December 2017 12A31 ALEE
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Yang Bin(note (ii)) B SE (B2 (i) — 264 — 112 376
Ms. Chen Xiaona (note (iii)) — BREEfBZ L (M7 (iii) — 304 — 100 404
Mr. Zheng Shunqi (note (iii) — BBIBEE % 4 (#1## (iii) = 244 = 88 332
Ms. Shi Hui (note (iii)) W8 &+ (M3 (i) - 073 _ 94 367
Non-executive director FHNTEE
Ms. Wang Ge (note (iv)) E® LM (iv) — — — — —
Mr. Yang Zhenghong (note (v)) BIER%EE(HZ(v)) = — — — -
Independent non-executive BV IHITEE
director
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (note (vi)) BEIB¢ %4 (H1aE (vi) — = — — -
Mr. Liu Binghai (note (vi)) BRB RN (i) = = = — —
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (note (vi)) ~ EE#E %4 (K72 (vi) = = = — —
- 1,085 - 394 1,479
Notes: Htet -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

No directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: Nil). No directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Mr. Yang Bin was appointed as executive directors of the
Company on 26 March 2018.

Ms. Chen Xiaona, Mr. Zheng Shungi and Ms. Shi Hui
were appointed as executive directors of the Company
on 14 August 2018.

Ms. Wang Ge was appointed as non-executive director of
the Company on 14 August 2018.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong were appointed as non-executive
director of the Company on 21 August 2018.

(if)

(i)

(iv)

HZE2018F12A31HIEEEZ - #
EEEWMAEEEMME - (EAM
N7 S B Bl A0 7 4 [ B O 2
BB AE (20176 « &) - EiE 2018
F12ABILFE  MEEEWE
3 [7 = AR YER A ] B < (2017 £ :
) o

B E AR 2018 F 3 A 26 HEEL (T
BARRRITES °

PREE A+ - BBt A RATE L L
MN20184E8 A 14 B EEEAARRA T
WITES -

B LZER201848 A14BEZ T
AARRBERITES ©

BIERFEENR2018F8H21 A S
ERARRFERTES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i E MRk M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

(b)

DOUMOB

(vi) ~ Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang
Yingzhe were appointed as the independent non-
executive directors of the Company on 20 February 2019.

The five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group are
analysed as follows:

(vi) PBREBXELE  BIRBEERTERE
H£R2019F 220 A EZEAAR
AIMB L IEITES o

(b) HENEBEFAL

AEBRAZDEHALTHITAT

2018 2017

2018 2017 &

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AZ

Directors = 3 1
Non-directors, the highest paid P EESAL

individual 2 4

5 5

Details of the emoluments of the above non-directors,

s FHRESFALTOMESHB

the highest paid individual are as follows: LU
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFT
Salaries and other emoluments HekHEMME 808 1,604
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 472 21
Retirement scheme contribution RIREHEIHE IR 171 424
1,451 2,049

The number of the highest paid non-directors fell within

the following emolument band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 %7

MENFUATHENREHFES

ALTAZ

2018

2018 F

Number of
individuals

A

2017
2017 &

Number of
individuals
A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. %  BERZE

Furniture,
fixtures and
office

equipment Computers Motor vehicles Total
RE - #ER

WAERE | "E &

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT AR FT ABBEF ARETT

COST RAE
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 196 99 — 295
Additions NE 135 23 430 588
Disposal from disposal of REHEMBAR

subsidiaries k= (87) (43) — (130)

At 31 December 2017 and  R2017F12A831B R

1 January 2018 20181 H81H 244 79 430 753
Additions NE 178 67 — 245
Disposal HE (251) — — (251)
Disposal from disposal of REAHEWNBE AR

subsidiaries L& (18) (19) — (37)
At 31 December 2018 M2018F12A31H 153 127 430 710
ACCUMULATED 2EHE

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2017 R2017E181H 49 18 — 67
Depreciation e 84 25 — 109
Disposal from disposal of REHEMNBAR

subsidiaries M E (50) (2) — (52)

At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12A31 R

1 January 2018 20181 81H 83 41 — 124
Depreciation e 63 22 41 126
Disposal HE (21) — — (21)
Disposal from disposal of RELEHBAR

subsidiaries B & (11) (8) = (19)
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F 12831 H 114 55 41 210
NET BOOK VALUE BREHE
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F12H31H 39 72 389 500
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12H31H 161 38 430 629
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt - BERFREEB T LEETE
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful HREAZREGIERFHRNRESE
lives and after taking into account of their estimate resided E o

residual values.

No property, plant and equipment was pledged at 31 R2018F 12 A31H » B & & #H(E [ ¥
December 2018 (2017: Nil). % BMEREREROI7TE &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE

Subscription

Software accounts Total
B I BIERF a#
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT AR® T
cosT RAE
At 1 January 2017 R2017FE181H 1,076 — 1,076
Additions — internally developed RE — AEBHIZ 3,008 — 3,008
Additions — externally acquired A& — BEINE 1,811 4,271 6,082
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12A831 8K
1 January 2018 20181 H1H 5,895 4,271 10,166
Additions — internally developed R& — AEBFAZE 4,439 — 4,439
Additions — externally acquired A& — BEINE — 16,524 16,524
At 31 December 2018 R2018412 831 H 10,334 20,795 31,129
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Z&t##sH
At 1 January 2017 n2017F181H — — —
Charge for the year F R 810 306 1,116
At 31 December 2017 and MR2017F12 8318 K
1 January 2018 20181 H1H 810 306 1,116
Charge for the year F N 2,303 3,604 5,907
At 31 December 2018 R20184 12 A31H 3,113 3,910 7,023
NET BOOK VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2018 A 2018412831 H 7,221 16,885 24,106
At 31 December 2017 A2017%F12831H 5,085 3,965 9,050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE 20184F 12 A3t HIEFE

16.

Amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets has been

recognised as follows:

AEBELEENBIHEROT

2018 2017
2018 2017 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Cost of sales SHE AR 4,875 849
Administrative expenses TR AR 1,032 267
5,907 1,116

Development cost that does not meet the criteria in Note
4.9(ii) is recognised as an expense as incurred. Capitalised
development cost is recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for
use. The self-developed software with development cost
occurred but not ready for use are recorded as development
cost and subject to impairment test at each year end. As
of 31 December 2018, development cost of approximately
RMB2,361,000 (2017: RMB475,000) was incurred and met
the criteria in Note 4.9(ii), but not ready for use. Based on the
impairment assessment result, the directors of the Company
consider that no impairment charge was required as of 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

DG I 5E 4.9(01) BT 5142 25 /9 5 25 A AN
EERERARMSE - BAERHFEHAR
RRAEREE  NEEHRER—ZIRB
FIIEHESY - B EA R AR RAHER
WMETTHAERGCHRARENAE - R
BEFRETRERR - R2018F 12 A
318 EEXH AR 2361,00075(2017
F: ARM475,00070) KA - B FF
& MTEE4.9(i1) T E4E - BRATEER o
BEREFEER NARESERE
R 20184 12 A 31 B &R EF X (2017
Fm)o

GOODWILL 16. B&
2018 2017
2018 2017 &F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFIT
At 1 January ®n1A18 — 366

Derecognised on disposal of a & B A R BFBUH FE R

subsidiary (Note 31) (K1a£31) — (366)
At 31 December Mm12H31H — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B SRR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Current

— Investment fund

T

— REES

BAREBERARSNUBEE

2018 2017
2018 2017 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETT
— 36,058

The short-term investment fund measured at fair value through

profit or loss were denominated in RMB, with expected rates

of return of 2% per annum for the year ended 31 December
2018 (2017: 1% to 3%). The returns of the investment on these

fund investment products were not guaranteed, hence their

contractual cash flows did not qualify for solely payments of

principal and interest. Therefore they were measured at fair

value through profit or loss. None of these investments were

past due.

Reconciliation of the financial assets at fair value through

BARBEFABRNEHEEESIRAR
BESTHE - BiZE2018F 12 A31 B IEFEW
TEEEGFE DR EHE S FIR 2% (2017 £F -
1% %E3%) - ZEHE SR EEMNIRED
WA ERE - HENBHEREL TSR
REZRAE RFEHER  BREARA

REFABRE - ZFREMEAS -

BAREF ABENNEEEN L RN

profit or loss as follow: N
2018 2017
2018 % 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARMFr
At 1 January ®1A1R 36,058 14,999
Addition RE 66,000 82,100
Disposal & (103,671) (61,674)
Fair value gain for the year FRAR BN 1,613 633
At 31 December ®12A31H — 36,058
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Details of the deferred tax assets recognised and movements

18. EEMIBEEE
ERZNELEHIBEE RS FE

are as follows:

Allowance on

Allowance on
doubtful debt

doubtful debt on trade
on contract and other
assets receivables Total
BHREE HIRHMEWR
RERE MR FIERBRE a3t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AEHFT ARHTFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2017 R2017%F1 818 99 143 242
Credited/(charged) to profit A /({1 H)ERER
or loss for the year 36 (49) (13)
At 31 December 2017 and MR2017F12 831 B K
1 January 2018 20181 A1H 135 94 229
Credited to profit or loss for FAFRER
the year 159 148 307
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B A A — (166) (166)
At 31 December 2018 M"2018F 12 A31H 294 76 370

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB7,723,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB3,780,000). As it is not
probable that the future taxable profits which can be utilised

will be available. The tax losses will expire from 2020 to 2025.

19. INVENTORIES

Finished goods BUAK Sh

N £ @ I 5 R2018F 128318 4
A R #7,723,0007T(20175F : A R #
3,780,000 7T ) M) 25t BB BB HERIELES
HEE  REAATKAELHRATFEHAN
RIRFERBL A o FIEBIBRG RN 2020 F =
2025 FJE i °

19. &
2017
2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMBFT ARMTFT
— 1,929
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. ES5EWRFIE
2018 2017
2018 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥TFTT AREFr
Trade receivables B 5 W sRIE 15,156 6,982
Less: Loss allowance for trade i B REWEIEN B EE
receivables (450) (215)
14,706 6,767
The aging analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment BIREEK - B HEWFRIBBHIRREERE
losses at the end of each reporting period based on invoice BIBEEE HHNERSITOT -

date is as follows:

PLRE: 2017

2018 2017 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARE T

0 — 30 days 0Z30H 4,573 4,539

31 - 60 days 31E60H 5,501 912

61 - 90 days 61Z=90H 1,934 253

91 - 180 days 91180 H 226 147

181 — 365 days 181 £ 365 H 1,289 5388

Over 365 days 365 BLA E 1,183 383

14,706 6,767
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group allows HZE2018F 1231 BILEE - A&EE M
credit periods ranging from 1 to 30 days (2017: 1 to 30 days) ERXEETFTNF1E2308(2017F : 152
to its customers. Before accepting any new customer, the R)MEEN - AEBEEXEWIE
Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and FaIER - e HBERFEFNEELE X -
defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to WIZRFRIMEERRE - A5E N2 T 5
customers and credit term granted to customers are reviewed ERARPIUMNEERERATFPEDY

regularly. REEH -
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21.

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade

receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set

REBEFEMBERELERNEIFAIINMEL
% LB SRR RNMRANE

out in HKFRS 9 as follow: HEEFEEZsIT
2018 2017
2018 2017 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARMTF T
At 1 January ®W1A1H 215 325
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment E SRR IE R E B RE
loss on trade receivables (%) 235 (110)
At 31 December ®12 A31H 450 215
CONTRACT ASSETS 21. EHEE
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR TF T
Contract assets EREE 128,630 71,771
Less: Loss allowance for contract B BREEBBEE
assets (7,254) (2,772)
121,376 68,999

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for

contract assets in accordance with the simplified approach

set out in HKFRS 9 as follow:

REBEBMBREER
TE RANEERRNHRANERE

EBEZBNT

28 95k AT 51 ey S 1L

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB¥TFTT AREFT

At 1 January ®W1A1H8 2,772 464
Provision for impairment loss on AREEREEBEES

contract assets 4,482 2,308

At 31 December ®12 831 H 7,254 2,772
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22,

23.

24.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22.

RECEIVABLES

BE > ANRERAEMERRE

2018 2017
2018 4 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ABEBTT
Deposits Ze 712 299
Prepayments AT IR 9,481 5,848
Other receivables H b EUS FRIR 7,248 6,202
17,441 12,349

AMOUNTS DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS/ 23. BEWRR FERERRE

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts due from shareholders and non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-fee, repayable on demand

and non-trade in nature.

JFE W st 3R % 4% B

FAREERA - R

B BREREERFESHME -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24. HERESEEY
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AR T
Cash at bank RITIRS 27,912 21,375
Time deposit T BATE R 105,000 =
132,912 21,375

Certain of the cash and bank balances denominated in RMB
placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible
to other currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
only through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

The time deposit can be redeemed with 7 days notice and

earns interest at deposit rate of 1.89% per annum.

DOUMOB EEERIZ AR A F

BT AARBFHENR S MIRTT AT
R BRERTT - ARSTA B /B HpE
&% - RIFEHBEIMNEE BIERMAESE -
CERNEEESRE  AEERAEREE
REETINEEBHRITLIBARE B

e o

FEHFRAIBEH7BRMNERD - TiIRTGE
1.89% MTFAFIERGTE o
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25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. EFENRE
2017
2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFIT
Trade payables B 5 RN HRIE 44,459 15,323
The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the B RENZBNCEERRTFETREER
terms agreed with different suppliers, normally range from 1 BENBERMERTRE —NF1EE
days to 60 days. Based on the receipt of services and goods, 60H - REEZWRELEY B H(—&H
which normally coincided with the invoice dates, the aging ZEHEMER)  NEBESHEHARNES
analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of each FENFOEBRR ST -
of the reporting period is as follows:
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT ARMFor
0 - 30 days 0Z=30H 21,265 12,687
31 - 90 days 31Z90H 10,417 625
91 - 180 days 91Z= 180 H 6,290 1,130
181 — 365 days 1812365 H 6,397 869
Over 365 days 365 HEA E 90 12
44,459 15,323
The trade payables are short-term and hence the carrying BEEMNZTBASHIIE AN AEFE
values of the Group’s trade payables are considered to be a SENFENEEEHSEBEREABEALE
reasonable approximation of fair value. BE °
26. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EStRIERHMENRE
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARMFor
Salaries payables ANE s 3,574 962
Accruals JEETFUB 8,237 653
Other tax payables H e 10,632 6,707
Other payables H e~ 5KE 320 1,591
22,763 9,913
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27. CAPITAL

The Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 20184F 12 A 31 HILFE

LN
BN

Number of shares Nominal value

ROHE HE

RMB’000

AR#F

Authorised share of HK$0.01 each 8 0.01 BT AT KD 38,000,000 331
Issued and fully paid share of HK$0.01  &[%0.01 &Ll 2 ETHE KK

each 22,368,231 195

The Company was incorporated on 26 March 2018 with an
initial authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into
3,800,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.1 each. On the
date of incorporation, 10,001 ordinary share of HK$0.1 were

allotted and issued by the Company.

On 3 May 2018. The Company resolved that each issued and
unissued share of the Company of HK$0.1 par value be sub-
divided into 10 shares, each with a par value of HK$0.01.
After such share split, the Company has authorised share
capital of HK$3,800,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares, each
with a par value of HK$0.01. On the same date, the Company
allotted and issued an aggregate of 22,356,901 ordinary
shares at HK$0.01. On 1 August 2018, the Company issued
additional 11,330 ordinary share at HK$0.01.

There was no authorised and issued capital as at 1 January
2017, 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 since the
Company was not yet incorporated at those dates.

Changes in share capital of the Company pursuant to the
“Reorganisation” are set out in the section headed “History
and Reorganisation” in the prospectus dated 28 February
2019.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR LA

N A R20184F 3 A 26 H & it AX 37
& 9155 & B’ A& /B380,000% 7T D &
3,800,000 IR FREE 0.1 B ITHIAR G © R
sEMAK Sz BHY - AR FIACEE K 397 10,001
B 0.1 BT EBAR o

201845 A3H « NAFRIAZEGA AR
BREE1BITME BT RABEITRN
DIFABI0RFREMEO0.01 B TTH R G, ©
RBEBRD IR - RARNEERN A
3,800,000/ 7T * % /4 38,000,000 A% & %
EME0.01 B ITHRG - KEHR » AR AR
0.01 B oAt % R 3176 $£ 22,356,901 ix &
B - R20184E8 A1H » ARAREEINE
711,330 IR F AR EE 0.01 B LI L BAR -
R20178E1A1H - 2017F 12 A 31 H
&2018F 118 » WEEATERBEEHTR
K ARALDARNZEB FrRARGEMKL
RARREIEA RN ESEH LA A

2019F 2 A28HMBRERIEL K E
4| —Ff o
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28. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT AND 28. REHEERERTH
ARRANGEMENT
The Group as lessee AEEERABEA
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable MR IR A 5 S5 48 & A 4 FE AT Y R SR KR
operating leases are payable as follows: ERFWT
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARETFTL
— Within one year — —FR’ 56 23
— In the second to fifth year, inclusive — MEZRER
(BEERMT) — 76
56 99
The Group leases a number of premises. The leases run for an REBEHAZEDE  HOZVAHR—=
initial period of 1 to 3 years (2017: 1 to 3 years). The leases =F(2017F : —E=F) - T TBEEM
do not include any contingent rental. SAMEE o
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29. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 29. ERNEINBMBEAARRE

FINANCIAL POSITION
2018
2018 F

Notes RMB’000
k22 AR¥TFTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REHBARMNKE —*
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from shareholders PR AR R 3R IE 567
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W Ff /B8 A R 5K IB 5
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 2
574
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to a subsidiary FE < — R BT BB 2 R 3K 78 —*
Net current assets REBEERE 574
Net assets BEFE 574
EQUITY s
Share capital [N 27 195
Reserves G 379
Total equity AR 574
e The amount is less than RMB1,000. * ZeEINARKE1,0007T ©
On behalf of the directors RERES
Director Director
5= =
Note: As at 31 December 2018, reserves of the Company included Kzt - R2018F 12 A31H @ AR RNBERTEE
capital reserve of RMB378,000 and retained profits of R AR 378,000 7T RAR B @ A A R ¥
RMB1,000. Movements of the Company’s share capital and 1,0007C ° AR RIRAREARFENESHR
capital reserve are disclosed in the consolidated statement of BEEREBRPWE -

changes in equity.
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30. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDARIES

Attributable equity interest
of the Group

Date and place of

incorporation/ AEEEGES
Name of subsidiary establishment 2018 2017
ERL A
i DEE RIBBRHE 2018 % 20174
% %
Doumob Inc. (“Doumob BVI") Incorporated on 13 100% —
(Note (c) & (e)) April 2018 in the
British Virgin Island
(“BVI")
Doumob Inc. ([Doumob BVII) M 201844 A 13R%E
(Hiat(c) R (e) EEERESTMA
A
Doumob HK Limited (“Doumob Incorporated on 18 100% —
HK") (note (d) & (f)) May 2018 in Hong
Kong
UREBERAR(IZEER])  R201845A18R%E
(Hrt(d) k(1)) BEEMKL
Beijing Doumob Information Incorporated on 16 100% —
Technology Co., Ltd (“WFOE") July 2018 in the
(note (d), (f) & (9)) PRC
LTREHESRMARAR(IHE  R201857A16BE
BECEDHZ () (HER(@g)  PEEMRL
Doumob. (Beijing) Technology Incorporated on 25 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (“Doumob July 2013 in the
Technology”) (note (d)) PRC
ZROER)BERHERAR M2013467 2587
(T2 BN ) (W (d) FR B B AL
Tianjin Feixun Hewo Internet Incorporated on 4 - 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Feixun December 2014 in
Hewo") (note (d) & (h)) the PRC
RERAMRBERMERAA R2014F 12 A4B%
(TREAFK ) (He2 () & (h) FR B MY AL
Tianjin Daniu Internet Technology Incorporated on 12 - 100%
Co., Ltd. (“Daniu Internet”) March 2015 in the
(note (d) & (h)) PRC
REAFBREMBRARD(TREHE R2015F3 A 12K
& (Ht @) % (h)) FR B MY AL
Tianjin Doumob Advertisement Incorporated on 4 100% 100%
Co., Ltd (“Doumob December 2014 in
Advertisement”)(note (d) & (h))  the PRC

AR BREARAR(ERES]) R2014F12R4RE
(Hrat (d) % (h)) e ava

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
ERTRARRAE/
HEEX

US dollars (“US$")1

1%

HK dollars (‘HK$”)1

1B

US$1,000,000

1,000,000 % 7T

RMB20,270,280

AE#20,270,280 T

RMB2,000,000

AE# 2,000,000 7

RMB1,000,000

AE# 1,000,000

RMB10,000,000

AE#10,000,000 7

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %R

30. RHBATNKRE

Principal activities

TEXKEE

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REER

Provision of online
advertising services

B LR E RS

Provision of online
advertising services

B LR E RS

Provision of online
advertising services

B LR E RS

Provision of online
advertising services

B LR E RS
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Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

Beijing Yamei Yunhe Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Yamei Yunhe")
(note (d) & (h))

IRGEEMREARAA ([EE
EM ) (Bt (a) & (h)

Beijing Chitu Huanyu Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Chitu Huanyu")
(note (d) & (h))

ERFRREFREARAA ([ R
BT ) (i () & (h)

Shenzhen Doumob Advertising
Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Doumob”)

(note (d) & (h))

A ZREEEMARAR (TR
S8 (Hiz () & (h)

Horgos Doumob Internet
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Horgos
Doumob”) (note (d) & (h))

ERRG D BARRMERAR
([ERRHEE])
(Wit (d) & (n))

Tianjin Shihong Internet
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shihong
Internet”) (note (d) & (h))

RELhBEEMAR AR (M L5k
B ) (Wi (d) & (n)

Xishan (Shanghai) Advertising
Co., Ltd. (“Xishan
Advertisement”)(note (d) & (h))

EI(E8)BEERAR (DRI
EE ) (Haz(0) & (h)

Horgos Xingcheng Huyu Culture
Communications Co., Ltd.
(“Horgos Xingcheng”)

(note (d) & (h))

ERRMENERUCBEFRAA
([ERRHERK])
(Wit (d) & (n))

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR LA

Attributable equity interest
of the Group
AEBEL RS

Date and place of
incorporation/
establishment
BRI
RIBH R

2018 2017

2018 & 2017 &
% %

Incorporated on 9 July 100% 100%

2014 in The PRC

M2014467A9BE
F B A A 32

Incorporated on 18 —
July 2014 in The
PRC

R2014467 1887
F B A A 32

Incorporated on 29 —
March 2016 in The
PRC

51%

100%

M20164 3 2987
F B A A 32

Incorporated on 29
December 2016 in
The PRC

R2016F 12 29 B
F B A A 32

100% 100%

Incorporated on 9 — 55%
December 2015 in
The PRC

R2015F 12 A9RE
F B A A 32

Incorporated on 25 —
November 2016 in
the PRC

2016411 25 R
e B A L

Incorporated on 23
May 2017 in the
PRC

51%

51% 51%

R201745 23 A%
G v

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BRTRARRAE/
HEMEX

RMB10,000,000

AR 10,000,0007C

RMB500,000

AR¥500,0007

RMB5,000,000

AR 5,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,000 7T

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AE®1,000,000 7T

RMB2,000,000

AR 2,000,0007T

Principal activities

TEEREE

Provision of online
advertising services and
online sales services

RS FEERBRE
HE R

Provision of online
advertising services

REE LEE RS

Provision of online
advertising services

REE LEE RS

Provision of online
advertising services and
online sales services

REE FBRERBRE £
HE R

Provision of online
advertising services

REE L EE RS

Provision of online
advertising services

REE EEE RS

Provision of online
advertising services and
marketing services

REE LEERBREH
AR
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Note:

(a)

(b)

The English names of all subsidiaries established in the PRC are
translated for identification purpose only.

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31
December as their financial year end date.

The equity interest is directly held by the Company at the date
of this report.

The equity interests are indirectly held by the Company at the
date of this report.

As at the date of this report, no audited financial statements
have been prepared for Doumob BVI as it is not subject to
statutory audit requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations in the jurisdiction of incorporation.

As at the date of this report, no audited financial statements
have been prepared for Doumob HK and WFOE as they were
newly incorporated in 2018.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of domestic

limited liability company.

HisE

(a) PR BIRKIZEY AT HT S A B T SR
EHRHBEZA -

(b) BREARAEENAERRERA12A31
BAEMRFERER -

() RABREAHBEAARREERS °

(d) RAREAPREHADRFEITA

(e) MARIFREHH - A5 Doumob BVIHZEESF
SR L AL [ AR R A I ROEARIE T AR
EBZHTE B RGBS E X B H
=

() REABEEH BRIBRFERIIEBER
R 2018 FH e MAL - ML ARG EMR
BUSEZM SR °

(99 ZHEERMIEBECERPEKTL -

(hy ZFERBUABERBEMERRANRPEKIL -
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

31. HEMBAT

The Group had the following material business combination
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

K& B RE 220184 & 2017 F 12 A 31
AIEFEMNERERSHOT

(a) Disposal of Beijing Kiwi Bird Technology Co., Ltd. (a) HELZFEENBEERATE
On 7 December 2017, the Group disposed 51% equity M2017F12A7H KEE L E
interest of its subsidiary Beijing Kiwi Bird Technology R ERMER EES RS
Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision of online BARIERFERREARRA AN
advertising services in the PRC. The net assets of the 51% M - REERH - FIEER
disposed company at the date of disposal were as AMEEFENT
follows:
RMB’000
AREFT
Property, plant and equipment VI - R Rkt 78
Goodwill (note 16) (M aF 16) 366
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk Hith e IR 3,403
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBREEZFEY 318
Trade and other payables B 5 & E A I8 (393)
Tax payables FEIBITE (85)
3,687
Less: non-controlling interests B FEPERR RS (1,626)
2,061
Derecognition of derivative asset — put option 4 IFFERITEBE — RoAHAE 323
2,384
Consideration KRB (2,040)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary included in  sFAFEHZAERNHEWEBQREE
consolidated profit or loss for the year 344
Consideration satisfied by: REATIHAZA :
Cash Re 2,040
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEAWMBEELRA GRH)FE :
Cash consideration ReERE 2,040
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of FIEENRERACEED (318)
1,722
DOUMOB ZERKE AR AT
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(b)

Disposal of Tianjin Feixun Hewo Internet Technology (b)
Co., Ltd.

On 30 June 2018, the Group disposed 100% equity
interest of its subsidiary Tianjin Feixun Hewo Internet
Technology Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision

of online advertising services in the PRC. The net assets

HEXERAMABERMERQ
Gl

MN20184E6 A30H - RAEFHER
PR EIREA EESREAM B
DA KZERMFK B4 T AR A
A8 100% et - WS HE - AT

of the disposed company at the date of disposal were ERRMEEFENT ¢
as follows:
RMB’000
AR¥TFTT
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE —*
Deferred tax assets REBIHE E 101
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk Hfth fE W GRIE 8,401
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 378
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERSKRIE (4,073)
Tax payables P FR IR (1,002)
3,805
Consideration RIE (3,770)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary included in st AFRLFA BRI HENBAFERE
consolidated profit or loss for the year
35
Consideration satisfied by: REATIHAZA :
Cash Be 3,770
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEAMBEERA GRH)FE :
Cash consideration HeRE 3,770
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of FIEENRERAEEEY (378)
3,392
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. . ZeFEORARE 1,0007T
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(c) Disposal of Tianjin Daniu Internet Technology Co., (c) HEXRERFPBHMERDT
Ltd.
On 30 June 2018, the Group disposed 100% equity MN2018FE6 A30H » AEFEHER
interest of its subsidiary Tianjin Daniu Internet PR EREMEE FESRENN B
Technology Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision RAIRERFTHEBRMER R AH
of online advertising services in the PRC. The net assets 100% &4 - MILERER - FTEER
of the disposed company at the date of disposal were AIMBEFEENT ¢
as follows:
RMB’000
AR¥TFTT
Deferred tax assets RETIEE BE 1
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H fth fE R IE 3,422
Cash and cash equivalents HekB2EED 1,348
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H b e 3RI8 (3,559)
Tax payables eI (267)
945
Consideration KE (945)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary FFAFRERE BN L E
included in consolidated profit or MR Az, (&E)

loss for the year —

Consideration satisfied by: REATENF NI -
Cash Re 945

Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEAMBRERACRH)FH

Cash consideration ReRE 945
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of FItERRERBEEED (1,348)
(403)
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(d)

Disposal of Beijing Chitu Huanyu Technology Co., (d)

Ltd.

On 30 June 2018, the Group disposed 51% equity
interest of its subsidiary Beijing Chitu Huanyu
Technology Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision

of online advertising services in the PRC. The net assets

HELRARBTHEERA T

MN20184E6 A30H - RAEFHER
PR EIREA EESREAM B
REERARBEFRFEEAR QRN
51% Bk - RILERM - THER

of the disposed company at the date of disposal were FINBEFEEWNT ¢
as follows:
RMB’000
AR¥TFTT
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 7
Deferred tax assets REBIHE E 64
Inventory = 1,679
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk Hith fE R IE 135
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 76
Trade and other payables B 5 K& HAth fE 5118 (92)
Tax payables JE T I8 (230)
1,639
Less: non-controlling interests 8 FEVERR R (803)
836
Consideration KIE (750)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary included in st AFRLGEBENHE
consolidated profit or loss for the year BB AR EE 86
Consideration satisfied by: REATI G LA
Cash RE 750
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEAMBEELRA GRH)FE :
Cash consideration ReERE 750
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of It ENRERREEED (76)
674
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(e)

DOUMOB

Disposal of Shenzhen Doumob Advertising (e) HEFRINEBEELEHEMERAT
Technology Co., Ltd.
On 30 June 2018, the Group disposed 100% equity MN2018FE6 A30H » AEFEHER
interest of its subsidiary Shenzhen Doumob Advertising RENEREEREES RGN B
Technology Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision AREAFINE BESEEMAR A AR
of online advertising services in the PRC. The net assets 100% &4 - MILERER - FTEER
of the disposed company at the date of disposal were AIMBEFEENT ¢
as follows:
RMB’000
AR T
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H A YRR 4,984
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 1
Trade and other payables B 5 N H A e FOR (4)
4,981
Consideration RE (5,000)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary included in  FtAFALRA Bz H S M B A R WS
consolidated profit or loss for the year 19
Consideration satisfied by: REUTIHFRZA
Cash e 5,000
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEEMBRERA O H)FHE -
Cash consideration HeRE 5,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of FIHENRS KRR EEY 1)
4,999
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(f)

Disposal of Tianjin Shihong Internet Technology Co., (f) HEXEILR/EEMERALT
Ltd.
On 30 June 2018, the Group disposed 55% equity MN2018FE6 A30H » AEFEHER
interest of its subsidiary Tianjin Shihong Internet PEEEREHEE EESRENNEB
Technology Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision RNAERFETLABEEMER A A
of online advertising services in the PRC. The net assets 55% K - MILERHE - FTEER
of the disposed company at the date of disposal were FINBEFEEWNT ¢
as follows:
RMB’000
AR T
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 11
Inventory TE 317
Trade and other receivables B 5 RH A EKIE 11,435
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEYD 444
Trade and other payables B 5 & H e 3RIE (12,017)
190
Less: non-controlling interests B - FEVERR MRS (85)
105
Consideration RIE (100)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary included in T AFREE BN HEHB R RERE
consolidated profit or loss for the year 5
Consideration satisfied by: REA TN T AT -
Cash Re 100
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEEMNBRETA (R )F5E
Cash consideration RERE 100
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of FIHEMNRE REREEZEY (444)
(344)
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(g) Disposal of Xishan (Shanghai) Advertising Co., Ltd. (9) HERL(LEEB)EERRAT
On 30 June 2018, the Group disposed 51% equity MR2018F6 A30H ' AEEFHE &
interest of its subsidiary Xishan (Shanghai) Advertising MNP EIRMEE EES RS
Co., Ltd., which is engaged in the provision of online BEARZRLU(EE)ESERAAN
advertising services in the PRC. The net assets of the 51%M#E - RIEERH - FIHER
disposed company at the date of disposal were as AIMEEFENT :
follows:
RMB’000
AR#FT
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H AU FIA 3,470
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 224
Trade and other payables B 5 K H M R IE (2,654)
1,040
Less: non-controlling interests B - IEVERR MR (507)
533
Consideration KRB (530)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary included in st AFRERE B L S E A RlE1E
consolidated profit or loss for the year 3
Consideration satisfied by: REATIFAXZA :
Cash Bne 530
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEEEMNRERA (R ) FE
Cash consideration RERE 530
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of FTHENRE RREEEY (224)
306

DOUMOB
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32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES 32. EXBEIRS
TRANSACTIONS
Other than disclosed in Note 13, the Group entered into the BRI ETISFTEREEININ REBREZE
following related party transactions during the years ended 31 20184F N 2017412 A31H IEFE &L
December 2018 and 2017. ATEERRS °
(a) Name and relationship (a) BBEREBER
Name of related parties Relationship with the Group
BER SR ER A 55 [ WY BA R
Beijing Xincheng Zhiyuan Culture Communication Investee
Co., Ltd.
RO EE BB R QA REHR
Cloud Traffic (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. Common shareholder
EREGER)BEAERRAR] HEMRR
(b) Related parties transaction (b) BAEARZ
2018 2017
2018 §F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARK T

(i)  Purchase of services froma (i) [AEQFESRS

related company — 1,168
(i)  Interest income from a related (i) UWHUEEE D FF S A

company —_ 219
The prices for the above service fees and other FHtRTEE R A A A 5 EBRIRE
transactions were determined in accordance with the ST E T ERIERETE -

terms mutually agreed by the contract parties.
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(c) Key management personnel remuneration (c) XEEBAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEBTFTEEEAENNE B2IEMR
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s ARNAEERETRSHEE I
directors and certain of the highest paid employees as MeRE(NME13AMIEE)  FBa
disclosed in Note 13, is as follows: T :
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFT ARMFor
Short-term employee benefits %R B AR A 2,878 1,400
Retirement scheme contribution BRRETEIHER 455 494
3,333 1,894
33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 33. ELEERHRRER
PROCEDURES
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in AEEHECHTER  UERAEEA
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while MERBINEELE  AINZERTEEERK
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation f&#E - BERSRERTR -

of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, net of REENERNEBEREGEERTHE  IKRE
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners & RBSFZEYMMAR RS AEERE
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves (BEEZEITRAE RERREEF) -

and retained profits, respectively.
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34.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the loss of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new shares issue and share buy-back as well as the issue of

new debts or redemption of existing debt, if necessary.

Management regards total equity as capital. The amount of
capital as at 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
RMB239,994,000 (2017: RMB127,652,000) and, which the
management considers as optimal having considered the
projected capital expenditures and the projected strategic

investment opportunities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

The following table shows the carrying amount of

financial assets and liabilities:

34.

ARAEEEREABRMEAERFRHEDN
Bl BEBRTEANERE - AEEEBIK
MRS - FIRFTRBOBD - ARET
HEXROREER(WAERE)  FEHE
BEARERE -

EEERRERERER - R2018F 12 A
31 BMERSE S Bl A K 239,994,000
JL(2017 4 © A R #127,652,0007T ) © &F
RIBAEAST B RIEARE I ERE - &
BERREASFEIEN -

[y =
(a) BIBETAER
TREHNVHEENBEHRAE :

2018 2017
2018 2017 ¢
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥TFTT AREFIT
Financial assets at amortised cost: Z#HER AT ENTBEE :
Trade and other receivables Z 5 I H e W kI8 21,954 12,969
Contract assets BREE 121,376 68,999
Amounts due from shareholders FE MR AR 3R R IE 188 —
Amounts due from non-controlling &R IEIE RS HE 25 FUIA
interests 980 1,620
Cash and cash equivalents BekREEFEY 132,912 21,375
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABEZNHKEE !
through profit or loss:
Investment fund BEES — 36,058
277,410 141,021
Financial liabilities at amortised REHANTENTEEE
costs:
Trade and other payables B 5 R H b fE T IR 56,590 18,529
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(b)

DOUMOB

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade and other receivables, contract assets, amount
due from non-controlling interests, amount due from
shareholders, cash and cash equivalents and trade and
other payables. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include credit risk,
liquidity risk and currency risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The directors of
the Company manage and monitor these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.
(i) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade and other receivables, contract assets,
amount due from non-controlling interests,
amount due from shareholders and cash deposits
at banks. The carrying amounts of trade and
other receivables, contract assets, amounts due
from non-controlling interests, amount due from
shareholders and cash and cash equivalents
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to

credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash deposits at banks
since they are substantially deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or large-sized
listed banks. Management does not expect that
there will be any significant losses from non-

performance by these counterparties.

TEMRARAE

(b)
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The Group has large number of customers and
there was no concentration of credit risk. The
Group has monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability
of these receivables at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses

are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking

information. Especially the following indicators are

AEEEXRERF Rt AE
SPHEERR - AEER

EREF  UHERRETHE
EIEHER - I ARER
BmMERRBRZERWFR
B ATBEIE - ARER AT Al B
EmEBEEHTRRERR °

AEBHEBEEVRERRZ B
ERAMATREN - thEH R EE(E
BERREERRELERE
FEEN - AR EEERRR
BREZEINE - NEBASR HR
SEREEHLRONA RN
S5 FE TR B B AR B AR T RE
MEETTEE - AR th Z B &
BOAERIIFERMEERM -
FRIRAES TATIER

incorporated:

. Internal credit rating s  AFMEEFR

. External credit rating o INEMEEFER

. Actual or expected significant adverse o X BBIKEMRR
changes in business, financial or economic ) ERR KB E RN
conditions that are expected to cause a HE) - FEHEHERA
significant change to the borrower’s ability BITEEREE HiEKE
to meet its obligations N
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o Actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of individual property

owner or the borrower

° Significant increases in credit risk on the
other financial instruments of the individual

property owner or the same borrower

o Significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the

operating results of the borrower

Trade receivables (excluding trade receivables
from related parties)

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables
(excluding trade receivables, prepayments and
other receivables from related parties).

The Group has assessed that the expected loss
rate for trade receivables from related parties
was immaterial. Thus no loss allowance provision
for trade receivables from related parties was
recognised during the year ended 31 December
2018 (2017: Nil).

The loss allowance provision for the remaining
balances was determined as follows. The
expected credit losses below also incorporated
forward looking information.
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(ii)

0-30 31-60 91-180 181-365  Over 365
days days days days days Total
0%30H 31%Z60A 91Z180F 181Z365H 365HML e
Trade receivables  E5EWFE(FEHE
(excluding trade EHBEESNES
receivables from 5E)
related parties)
At 31 December 2018 12018125310
Expected loss rate ~ EEHIEER 1.04% 1.06% 2.59% 7.66% 15.01%
Gross carrying amount &EAE
(RMB'000) (A\REFT) 4,621 5,560 232 1,396 1,392 15,156
Loss allowance BEkE
provision (RMB1000)  (ARZFT) (48) (59) (6) (107) (209) (450)
At 31 December 2017 #2017512831A
Expected loss rate ~ BHIBER 1.07% 2.67% 3.29% 7.79% 17.99%
Gross carrying amount BEEE(E
(RMB'000) (AEETT) 4,688 937 152 578 467 6,982
Loss allowance BiRRE
provision (RMB'000) (A &&FT) (49) (25) (5) (45) (84) (215)
* The amount is less than RMB1,000 * ZeFRERARKE1,0007T ©

The provision for impairment loss on contract

assets is determined as follow:

BHEEREBBNBEIZIA
THAEE

2018 2017

2018 £ 2017 %

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFTT AREFT

Expected loss rate TEHBEEX 5.64% 3.86%
Gross carrying amount BRmEAE 128,630 71,771
Loss allowance provision BB 7,254 2,772

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk

management rests with the directors of the

Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity

risk management framework for the management

of the Group’s short, medium and long-term

funding and liquidity management requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining

adequate reserves .

(i) HEEZEE

RBECRBREBNRERL
BARRIEEHE - AARE
EERVEEARDES AR
ERER  UEERAEENE
FREESRABEST R
REBBBREFBER - A
EEREESRER
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The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFJNAEEITETEE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BB TS AHE - 7| RIBE
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on RE B F] gL B IR BN A &%
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities FHH  RBRMEEEHORST
based on the earliest date on which the Group BERESmERTE

can be required to pay.

Total More than More than
(IHEMUE] Within 1 year but PATEIE]

Carrying  undiscounted one year or less than but less

amount cash flows on demand 2 years than 5 years
BHAE BB-F HBmE

REE ZRASRELE -FAFREX BORME BLREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFZ AREFR ARBTFT AREFR AREFT

As at 31 December 2018 7420185128 31H

Trade payables BHENTE 44,459 44,459 44,459 - -
Accruals and other payables [EFHFUE KA

fEfizE 12,131 12,131 12,131 - -

56,590 56,590 56,590 - -

As at 31 December 2017 7420175128 31H

Trade payables EHRAFE 15,323 15,323 15,323 — —
Accruals and other payables FEHHUE R E A
eS8 3,206 3,206 3,206 — —
18,529 18,529 18,529 — —
(iii) Currency risk (iii) E#E

The Group mainly operated in the PRC with most AREFBFTBEEFHLEE X5
of the transactions settled in RMB and did not REBDAARELEE » WER
have significant exposure to risk resulting from AN B SR 554 ) 1) 3t AR /Y B2 KL
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. i o
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(iv) Financial instruments not measured at fair

(v)

value

Financial instruments not measured at fair
value include cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from shareholders, amounts due
from non-controlling interests, trade payables and

accruals and other payables.

Due to their short term nature, the carrying value
of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due
from non-controlling interests, amount due from
shareholders, trade payables, accruals and other

payables approximates fair value.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and trade on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to

quoted market prices.

The fair value of unlisted equity security is based

on income approach and grouped into Level 3.

There was no change in valuation techniques

during the period.

The fair value of investment fund is determined
with reference to quoted price in active market

and grouped into Level 1.

(iv) LHFEAAETEWIBEITA

(v)

WIRAAREFENTBETA
BRRASLBEEEY B
FEWGRIR ~ B e R H UK
- RABRFOR - YRR
PRtg s IR « B HENRIE R
FEET SR R E M B FRIA o

HRBREHNE  RE kRS
EEY BHRYHER - e
K B At FEUGRIR - UL FEFRAX
BERIE - BRARRFIA - &
SN FRIA - R RIA KR E AL
e FRIA M) AR (B 22 A 72 (5 4E

o+

B o
BAAETEHHETAR

Bt AR 2 AR R R 1 I 500 BB
BT SEENVBEERE
BENHARELRMSHRERE
ERRIE

B EMREN QA EREEA
EEE  UDBERFE= -

BETEHAL B -

REESHARELRRBT
LRMEEE YOBRRE—
& o
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Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used

in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

The fair value of the Group’s unlisted financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at 31
December 2018 and 2017 has been arrived at
on the basis of valuation carried out by APAC
Assets Valuation and Consulting Limited, a firm of
independent professionally qualified valuers not

connected with the Group.

The financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are categorised into Level 3 of fair value

measurement.
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At 31 December 2018
®2018F12H31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B Eok EZ®;
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF AREF AREF AREF
Financial assets at fair EAAEFABEN
value through profit or HEEEREES
loss Investment fund — — — —
At 31 December 2017
M2017%12H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—% FM F=M &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFr AREFr AREFr
Financial assets at fair EZAABEFABREN
value through profit or HEEEREES
loss Investment fund 36,058 — — 36,058

The following table presents the changes in Level
3 instruments for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

TREJNE=ZHTEEZ 2018
FRK2017F12 A31 BILFE

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

BAREFABRBENRBEE

2018 2017

2018 2017 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFTT ARHTFT

At 1 January ®W1HA1H — 5,322
Disposals e — (5,322)
At 31 December ®12A31H — —
During the years ended 31 December 2018 and EHE2018F K 2017%E 12 A 31

2017, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

BIEFE  F—HREE-_H2
S R B =R ERA
REEH - REBHBERRA
REBRTER 2 FHOHERE
K1k - AR S B A R B
RERMER -
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35.

36.

The fair values of unlisted equity security and
derivative asset — put option is determined
using the price/book ratios of comparable listed
companies adjusted for lack of marketability
discount. The fair value measurement is
negatively correlated to the discount for lack of
marketability. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
it is estimated that with all other variables held
constant, a decrease/increase in discount for lack
of marketability by 1% would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit or loss by RMBnil
and RMBnil respectively.

The gains arising from the disposal of the unlisted
equity security is presented in other net gains in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

There were no other financial assets or liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2018 and
2017.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD

As at 20 February 2019, shareholders resolution was passed
and resolved that the Company increased the authorized
share capital from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each to HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000
shares, with a par value of HK$0.01 each.

As at 24 February 2019, shareholders resolution was passed
and resolved that the Company increased the authorized
share capital from HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$10,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 shares, with a par value of HK$0.001 each.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no material events
after the reporting date.

SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the
Company or any of the companies comprising the Group in
respect of any period subsequent to 31 December 2018.
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